University of Nebraska - Lincoln

DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln

Daugherty Water for Food Global Institute: Faculty Publications

Daugherty Water for Food Global Institute

2015

Yield gap analysis of field crops: Methods and case studies

V. O. Sadras

Kenneth Cassman

Patricio Grassini

W. G.M. Bastiaanssen

A. G. Laborte

See next page for additional authors

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/wffdocs

Part of the Environmental Health and Protection Commons, Environmental Monitoring Commons, Hydraulic Engineering Commons, Hydrology Commons, Natural Resource Economics Commons, Natural Resources and Conservation Commons, Natural Resources Management and Policy Commons, Sustainability Commons, and the Water Resource Management Commons

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the Daugherty Water for Food Global Institute at DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln. It has been accepted for inclusion in Daugherty Water for Food Global Institute: Faculty Publications by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln.

Authors

V. O. Sadras, Kenneth Cassman, Patricio Grassini, W. G.M. Bastiaanssen, A. G. Laborte, A. E. Milne, G. Sileshi, and P. Steduto



Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations ISSN 1020-1203

41

Yield gap analysis of field crops Methods and case studies





Cover photograph: ©FAO/Daniel Hayduk

FAO information products are available on the FAO website (www.fao.org/publications) and can be purchased through publications-sales@fao.org

Yield gap analysis of field crops:

FAO WATER REPORTS

41

Methods and case studies

VO Sadras South Australian Research & Development Institute, Australia

KG Cassman and P Grassini University of Nebraska, USA

AJ Hall IFEVA, University of Buenos Aires, Argentina

WGM Bastiaanssen Delft University of Technology, The Netherlands

AG Laborte International Rice Research Institute, The Philippines

AE Milne Rothamsted Research, UK

G Sileshi World Agroforestry Centre, Malawi

P Steduto FAO, Italy The designations employed and the presentation of material in this information product do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations (FAO), or of the Water for Food Robert B. Daugherty Institute concerning the legal or development status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. The mention of specific companies or products of manufacturers, whether or not, these have been patented, does not imply that these have been endorsed or recommended by FAO, or DWFI in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. The views expressed in this information product are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of FAO, or DWFI.

ISBN 978-92-5-108813-5 (FAO)

Recommended citation:

FAO and DWFI. 2015. *Yield gap analysis of field crops – Methods and case studies*, by Sadras, V.O., Cassman, K.G.G., Grassini, P., Hall, A.J., Bastiaanssen, W.G.M., Laborte, A.G., Milne, A.E., Sileshi , G., Steduto, P. FAO Water Reports No. 41, Rome, Italy.

FAO and DWFI encourage the use, reproduction and dissemination of material in this information product. Except where otherwise indicated, material may be copied, downloaded and printed for private study, research and teaching purposes, or for use in non-commercial products or services, provided that appropriate acknowledgment of FAO and DWFI as the source and copyright holder is given and that FAO's and DWFI's endorsement of users' views, products or services is not implied in any way.

All requests for translation and adaptation rights and for resale and other commercial use rights should be made via www.fao/org/contact-us/license-request or addressed to copyright@fao.org.

FAO information products are available on the FAO website (www.fao.org/publications) and can be purchased through publications-sales@fao.org.

© FAO and DWFI, 2015

Contents

List of figures	v
List of boxes	viii
List of tables	viii
Foreword	ix
Acknowledgements	x
Preface	xi
Summary	xii
1. Introduction	1
2. Definitions of crop yield	4
2.1. Evolution of yield criteria	4
2.2. Yield definitions	5
3. Scales, data sources and overview of methods	10
3.1. Actual yield data: spatial scales and accuracy	10
3.2. Temporal scales	15
3.2.1. Removing the dynamic components of environment and technology	15
3.2.2. Capturing the dynamic components of environment and technology	15
3.3. Modelled yield	18
3.3.1. Desirable attributes of models in yield gap studies	18
3.3.2. Weather data for modelling crop yield	19
3.3.3. Modelling yield within the context of a cropping system	22
4. Approaches to benchmark yield and quantify yield gaps	23
4.1. Approach 1: high-yielding fields, experimental stations and growers contests	23
4.1.1. Sunflower in rainfed systems of Argentina	23

4.1.2. Maize in sub-Saharan Africa	24
4.1.3. Grain legumes in India	26
4.1.4. Wheat-maize double crop in the Hebei plain of China	26
4.2. Approach 2: boundary functions accounting for resources and constraints	27
4.2.1. Yield and water productivity gaps	27
4.2.1.1. Wheat in rainfed systems	27
4.2.1.2. Millet in low-input systems of Africa	31
4.2.1.3. Sunflower in rainfed systems of Argentina	32
4.2.1.4. Maize in irrigated systems of USA	33
4.2.1.5. Yield vs water availability in a critical period of yield determination	34
4.2.2. Yield gaps and nitrogen uptake	35
4.2.3. Yield gaps and soil constraints	36
4.2.4. Water productivity as a function of yield	37
4.3. Approach 3: modelling	38
4.3.1. Maize (USA, Kenya) and wheat (Australia)	38
4.3.2. Rice in Southeast Asia	41
4.3.3. Maize in Zimbabwe	42
4.3.4. Quinoa in Bolivia	42
4.3.5. Estimating yield potential with climate indices	42
4.3.6. FAO's Agro-Ecological Zones system	44
4.4. Approach 4: remote sensing	44
4.4.1. Benchmarking crop yield and yield gaps with remote sensing	46
4.4.2. Benchmarking water productivity with remote sensing	46
5. Conclusions and recommendations	48
Glossary	50

List of figures

1.	Time trends in FAO's Net Production Index (2004-2006 = 100)	2
2.	Decreasing rate of improvement of soybean yield in Kentucky (USA) with increasing cropping intensity, Measured	5
3.	Definitions of yield relevant to yield gap analysis; arrows illustrate some yield gaps	5
4.	County-level average (2004-2008) yields for rainfed and irrigated maize in Nebraska and Kansas	11
5.	Sub-national (district, region, province) data coverage in Sub-Saharan Africa	11
6.	Comparison between average farmer-reported Natural Resource District (NRD) in Nebraska, USA, and USDA-NASS county-level average maize and soybean yields (upper and bottom panels, respectively)	12
7.	Box-plots of farmer-reported maize yield, applied irrigation, and N fertiliser during the 2004-2011 interval in the Lower Platte North Natural Resource District in Nebraska (USA) for irrigated (I) and rainfed (R) maize	13
8.	Dynamics of nitrogen fertilisation in France according to three sources: AGRESTE (Statistical Service of the French Ministry of Agriculture), ONIGC (French National Office of Arable Crops), and ARVALIS (French Technical Institute for Cereal Crops)	14
9.	Dynamics of rizhoctonia root rot in direct-drilled wheat crops in South Australia. Wheat was grown in rotation with volunteer pasture (closed square), pea (closed circle), medicago (open circle) or in monoculture (open square). Error bars are lowest significant difference (P=0.05).	14
10.	Trends in grain yields of (a) irrigated and rainfed maize in Nebraska, (b) wheat in The Netherlands and wheat in Wimmera (South-east Australia). Sequential average yields in (c) Nebraska, (d) The Netherlands and Wimmera, and associated coefficients of variation for (e) Nebraska, and (f) Wimmera and The Netherlands as calculated based on 1, 2, 3 n years of yield data starting from the most recent year (2011 for Nebraska and 2009 for The Netherlands and Wimmera) and going backwards.	16
11.	(a) The rate of rice yield improvement between 1966 and 1979 in Central Luzon (Philippines) was much larger for growers in the top quantiles than for those in the lower quantiles As a consequence the gap between the yield of best and average farmers (b) almost doubled during this period In (a) the red lines represent the ordinary least squares estimate and the 90% confidence interval of the estimate. The gray area refers to the 90% confidence band for the quantile regression estimates.	17

12.	Time trends in actual and modelled yield, and yield gap of wheat in the irrigated Yaqui Valley of northwest Mexico between 1968 and 1990. Modelled yields are estimates with CERES-Wheat, assuming no change in cultivar or management, thus accounting for weather-based potential yield.	17
13.	Time trend in the area planted to sugarcane in the state of São Paulo, Brazil, where the yield gap was \leq 20%. Yield gap is the difference between actual and water-limited yield.	18
14.	With increasing model complexity, parameter error increases and structure error decreases towards a limit of irreducible error (dotted line).	19
15.	Simulated rainfed maize water-limited yield (Yw) across four sites in the USA Corn using weather data from (a) NOAA weather stations (Tmax, Tmin, precipitation, and humidity) coupled with gridded solar radiation data from NASA- POWER database, (b) gridded NCEP data, (c) gridded CRU data and (d) gridded NASA plotted against simulated Yw based on high-quality weather data from meteorological stations of the High Plains Regional Climate Center (HPRCC) network.	21
16.	Variation in maize mean yield with fertiliser and yield gap on various soil types in sub-Saharan Africa. Vertical bars indicate 95 percent confidence bands.	25
17.	Comparison of average, minimum and maximum yield of peanuts measured in experimental stations and in whole-districts of India. The lines are $y = x$.	26
18.	Yield gap analysis of wheat-maize double cropping and its components in the Hebei plain of China. Yields are potential, calculated with models; experimental, measured in researcher designed trials in growers' fields, and maximum, average and minimum yield from surveys.	27
19.	Crop growth and yield depend on the capture and efficiency in the use of resources (CO2, radiation, water and nutrients) and environmental factors modulating the development, morphology and physiology of the crop.	30
20.	a boundary function with slope = 20 kg grain ha-1 mm-1 and x-intercept = 110 mm (solid line) for a particular set of crops comprising South Australian environments and cultivars and management of the 1960-70s (circles). (b) The original concept, with an updated slope = 22 kg grain ha-1 mm-1 and x-intercept = 60 mm, applied to a large (n=691) data set of crops in four dry environments of the world.	30
21.	(a) Frequency distribution of millet yield per unit seasonal evapotranspiration in Western Sahel and (b) relationship between grain yield and evapotranspiration for crops in Western Sahel; data from Egypt and USA are included for comparison. The solid line has a slope = 16.7 kg grain ha-1 mm-1 and an x-intercept = 158 mm, both derived from Rockström <i>et al.</i> (1998).	31
22.	(a) Relationship between sunflower grain yield and seasonal water supply in farmers' fields (open symbols; n = 169) and small-plot fertilizer trials (closed symbols; n = 231) in the Western Pampas. Water supply is available soil water at sowing plus sowing-tomaturity rainfall. (b) Relationship between yield and evapotranspiration for sunflower crops in Australia, Lebanon, Spain, Turkey, and United States.	32

23.	a) Relationship between grain yield and seasonal water supply (available soil water at sowing plus sowing-to-maturity rainfall and applied irrigation) for maize crops grown under near-optimal management in the Western US Corn Belt. The database included a wide range of environments and irrigation schedules; none of the fields had obvious nutrient limitations, diseases, insect damage, weeds, or hail. (b) Farmers' irrigated yields in the Tri-Basin NRD as a function of seasonal water supply (+). Tri-Basin county-level average rainfed yields are also shown for comparison (•).	33
24.	Relationship between attainable soybean yield and rainfall during the period of pod and grain set in (a) deep and shallow soils at Tandil, (b) deep soil at Pergamino, (c) combined data for Tandil and Pergamino. Curves are: (a) deep soil, $y = 0.25 + 2.79$ (1- e -0.0258 x); shallow soil, $y = -1.15 + 3.81$ (1-e $-0.0240x$); (b) $y = -0.56 + 4.7$ (1-e $-0.0259x$), (b) $y = -0.059 + 1.02$ (1- e $-0.0242x$)	34
25.	Attainable yield of maize as a function of rainfall in the critical period of grain yield determination for deep Typic Argiudolls and shallow Petrocalcic paleudolls (0.5-0.7m). The critical period is 20 d before to 30 d after anthesis. Double-headed arrows indicate yield gap due to soil.	35
26.	Actual wheat yield as a function of seasonal nitrogen uptake in Mediterranean (closed symbols) and non-Mediterranean environments (open symbols). The figure in the left shows a complete data set compiled from papers published in SCI journals (n = 630). The figure in the right shows the five highest yields in each of 50 kg/ha intervals of nitrogen uptake.	36
27.	Normalised relationship between yield and nitrogen input for 334 wheat crops in Australia. The solid line is a nitrogen-response curve representing the upper limit of the relationship	36
28.	Relationship between water productivity (yield per unit evapotranspiration) and yield of maize in the Doukkala Irrigation Scheme, Morocco. The red line is the boundary function fitted by calculating the 90th percentile of water productivity for yield split in 1000 kg/ha intervals. Both yield and water productivity were derived with methods combining remote sensing and modelling.	37
29.	Simulated potential yield (Yp) or water-limited yield (Yw) based on site-specific weather, soil properties, and management data collected from farmer's fields in three cropping systems: rainfed maize in west Kenya, irrigated maize in Nebraska (USA), and rainfed wheat in Victoria (Australia) (n = 54, 123, and 129 field-year cases, respectively). Each bar corresponds to an individual field-year case. The yellow and red portions of the bars indicate actual farmer's yield (Ya) and yield gap (Yg), respectively. Horizontal lines indicate average Yp (or Yw) and Ya (solid and dashed lines, respectively) for the region. Means and coefficients of variations (CV) for Yp (or Yw) and Yg are shown. Fields were sorted from highest to lowest Yp or Yw. Note that Ya>Yw for some site-years in Victoria which reflects incorrect specification of model inputs , actual yields, and/or inability of crop models to portray specific genotype x environment x management interactions.	39
30.	Median (a) actual vield (t ha-1), (b) modelled water use (mm), (c) water use	43

30. Median (a) actual yield (t ha-1), (b) modelled water use (mm), (c) water use efficiency, i.e. (a)/(b), (d) normalised photothermal coefficient (MJ m-2d-1 kPa-1 oC-1), and (e) normalised water use efficiency, i.e. (c)/(d). Data corresponds to the period 1975-2000. Note water use efficiency decreases from south to north in the eastern region (c) but this gradient is largely accounted for the climate variables in the normalised photothermal coefficient (e)

31. Spatial distribution of the ratio between actual and attainable crop yield in the irrigation scheme Doukkala in Morocco. The attainable yield is estimated as the 98% percentile of the crop yield for various crop types grown in the region

47

List of boxes

1.	THEORETICAL YIELD	6
2.	MAXIMISING YIELD AND WATER PRODUCTIVITY – DOES IT MAKE SENSE?	7
3.	BOUNDARY FUNCTIONS	28
4.	REMOTE SENSING: APPROACHES TO ESTIMATE CROP YIELD	44

List of tables

- Classification of global weather databases used to understand current and future 20 agricultural productivity. Weather databases used in the present study have been underlined
- Basic statistics and robust parameter estimates (Winsorized means and coefficients 24 of variation) of maize grain yield (t ha-1) from various soil fertility management inputs.
- Actual average farmer yield (Ya) and estimates of average potential yield (Yp) or water-limited yield (Yw), yield gaps (Yg), and Yg-to-Ya ratio (Yg:Ya) for three cropping systems based on four different methods: crop simulation models, upper percentiles of farmer Ya, and maximum yields. Values are means for one single year (rainfed maize in western Kenya) or 3 years for irrigated maize in Nebraska and rainfed wheat in Victoria.

Foreword

A world population that will exceed 9 billion by 2050 will require an estimated 60 percent more food. This increase means we need a major boost in current primary agricultural productivity. It is estimated that 80% of the required increase can stem from intensification. Achieving this production target without further large-scale conversion of land to agriculture requires higher crop intensification and greater annual crop productivity. However, crop productivity varies greatly from place to place, depending on environment, inputs and practices. Assessing the yield gap of existing cropped lands will indicate the possible extent of yield increase from actual values.

The authors of this publication provide a wide-ranging and well-referenced analysis of literature on current methods to assess productivity and productivity gaps of crops and cropping systems. "Potential" and "water-limited" yield are used to define current best attainable yields under irrigated and rain fed conditions, respectively, whereas "theoretical" yield represents the maximum yield that can be achieved according to current understanding of physiological principles of crop productivity, providing a guide to future increases in crop yield.

The methods for benchmarking yields and identifying yield-gaps are presented through a number of case studies, grouped into four approaches covering a range of applications. First, where actual levels of yield can be compared with attainable yields, there can be an immediate benefit to increase farm yield. Second, analysis of actual yields against environmental drivers provides insight into management possibilities to increase yield. It has particular application in rain fed systems where frontier analysis can identify seasons and conditions that support greatest water-limited yield and suggest management strategies and tactics to maximise water-productivity under the range of environmental conditions analysed. Third, crop models of various types, when used to provide independent benchmarks for potential and water-limited yield, can be extrapolated to areas of limited data availability, as it is currently the case for developing countries where the largest increases in food demand will occur. Fourth, large scale comparisons made by combining actual yield data with model estimates and remotely sensed information of crops and environment can inform about priority assessments and policy planning at regional and national scales.

Much work is needed to meet the challenge for greater food supply in the coming decades. The methods described here will form a basis for that work.

Moujahed Achouri Director, Land and Water Division

Acknowledgements

This publication has benefited from the support and input of a number of experts coming from different institutions who participated in the "Expert Consultation on Crop yield and water productivity gaps" organized by FAO, the Daugherty Water for Food Institute at the University of Nebraska (DWFI), the Stockholm Environmental Institute (SEI) and the Swedish International Agricultural Network Initiative (SIANI) in October 2013.

Therefore, special thanks go to Roberto Lenton (DWFI), Johan Kuylenstierna (SEI) and Matthew Fielding (SIANI) for their institutional and financial contribution to the consultation.

High appreciation goes to the participants to the expert consultation for their active and valuable contribution in the debate: Prof. Víctor Sadras of the South Australian Research & Development Institute, Australia; DWFI Faculty Fellows Kenneth Cassman and Patricio Grassini of the University of Nebraska, USA; Prof Antonio Hall of the University of Buenos Aires, Argentina; Dr. Wim Bastiaanssen of the Delft University of Technology, The Netherlands; Dr Sileshi G Weldesemayat of the World Agroforestry Centre, Malawi; Pablo Tittonel of the Wageningen University, the Netherlands; Elias Fereres of Cordoba University, Spain; Jennie Barron of the Stockholm Environmental Institute and affiliated to Stockholm Resilience Centre, Sweden; Christopher Neale, Director of Research for the Robert B. Daugherty Water for Food Institute and Professor in the Department of Biological Systems Engineering, Nebraska, USA; Lenny van Bussel, Crop Science and Resource Conservation, University of Bonn, Germany and member of the Plant Production Systems Group, Wageningen University, the Netherlands; Genesis T. Yengoh, Lund University Center for Sustainability Studies, Sweden; and Shulan Zhang, College of Natural Resources and Environment, Northwest A&F University, China.

The support of colleagues at FAO has been indispensable for this publication. We wish to acknowledge the critical inputs from Barbara Herren (Agriculture production and Protection Division), John Latham and Roberto Cumani (Land and Water Division) and Chung Te Tzou (Regional Office for Asia and Pacific). Special thanks go to Jippe Hoogeveen, Patricia Mejias Moreno and Michela Marinelli (Land and Water Division), not only for their valuable interventions during the discussion, but also for their kind assistance in organizing the event, in collaboration with Deborah Welcomme, and in the editing of the manuscript.

We are also particularly grateful to Professors Elias Fereres and David Connor (Emeritus Professor of Agronomy, University of Melbourne, Australia) for their insightful comments on the structure and content of the publication.

Finally, we wish to acknowledge with thanks the generous financial support received from the Robert B. Daugherty Foundation and the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation for the work on the yield gap analysis.

Preface

On behalf of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) and the Robert B, Daugherty Water for Food Institute at the University of Nebraska (DWFI), we are delighted to present this joint publication on "Yield gap analysis of field crops: Methods and case studies". The publication reviews methods for yield gap analysis, clarifying definitions and techniques to measure and model actual, attainable and potential yield at different scales in space and time and uses case studies to illustrate different approaches. We see this publication as a significant contribution towards our respective efforts to advance global water and food security through improvements in water and land productivity.

Importantly, the publication provided critical input to, and benefitted from, the Expert Consultation on "Crop yield and water-productivity gaps: method, problems and solutions" that was co-hosted by FAO, DWFI and the Stockholm Environment Institute (SEI) in Rome on 3-4 October 2013. The Consultation brought together leading professionals to discuss methods to measure the gaps, as well as ways to diagnose the root causes of yield and water productivity gaps and the actions that will be needed to close yield gaps in both small and large scale cropping systems, including management options and policies to provide incentives for the adoption of gap-closing technologies.

This joint publication and the Expert Consultation are among the first results of a far-reaching agreement between FAO and DWFI signed by University of Nebraska President James Milliken and FAO Director General Jose Graziano da Silva in July 2012. The agreement calls for a collaborative program with three areas of focus: sustainably increasing crop yields and water productivity using modeling, remote sensing and information systems; improving drought management and climate adaptation; and improving sustainable production under drought, stress and water-limited conditions. The work on yield gap analysis is part of the first area of focus, and builds on the activities of FAO and the DWFI to develop tools and knowledge-delivery systems to inform and guide policymakers in managing water and agriculture and to identify areas with the greatest potential to increase food supply on a sustainable basis. In particular, it builds on two major initiatives: (i) the work of a team at the University of Nebraska and partner institutions to build a global Yield Gap Atlas; and (ii) the Regional Initiative on Water Scarcity for the Near East and North Africa Region providing tools and methods to increase water productivity in irrigated and rainfed systems.

Pasquale Steduto Deputy Regional Representative for the Near East and North Africa FAO Representative in Egypt Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) Cairo, Egypt

Abuts Leuton

Roberto Lenton Founding Executive Director and Robert B. Daugherty Chair Water for Food Institute at the University of Nebraska Lincoln, Nebraska, USA

Summary

The challenges of global agriculture have been analysed exhaustively and the need has been established for sustainable improvement in agricultural production aimed at food security in a context of increasing pressure on natural resources.

Whereas the importance of R&D investment in agriculture is increasingly recognised, better allocation of limited funding is essential to improve food production. In this context, the common and often large gap between actual and attainable yield is a critical target.

Realistic solutions are required to close yield gaps in both small and large scale cropping systems worldwide; to make progress in this direction, we need (1) definitions and techniques to measure and model yield at different levels (actual, attainable, potential) and different scales in space (field, farm, region, global) and time (short, long term); (2) identification of the causes of gaps between yield levels; (3) management options to reduce the gaps where feasible and (4) policies to favour adoption of gap-closing technologies.

The aim of this publication is to review the methods for yield gap analysis, and to use case studies to illustrate different approaches, hence addressing the first of these four requirements.

Theoretical, potential, water-limited, and actual yield are defined. *Yield gap* is the difference between two levels of yield in this series. Depending on the objectives of the study, different yield gaps are relevant. The *exploitable yield gap* accounts for both the unlikely alignment of all factors required for achievement of potential or water limited yield and the economic, management and environmental constraints that preclude, for example, the use of fertiliser rates that maximise yield, when growers' aim is often a compromise between maximising profit and minimising risk at the whole-farm scale, rather than maximising yield of individual crops. The gap between potential and water limited yield is an indication of yield gap that can be removed with irrigation.

Spatial and temporal scales for the determination of yield gaps are discussed. Spatially, yield gaps have been quantified at levels of field, region, national or mega-environment and globally. Remote sensing techniques describes the spatial variability of crop yield, even up to individual plots. Time scales can be defined in order to either remove or capture the dynamic components of the environment (soil, climate, biotic components of ecosystems) and technology. Criteria to define scales in both space and time need to be made explicit, and should be consistent with the objectives of the analysis. Satellite measurements can complement in situ measurements.

The accuracy of estimating yield gaps is determined by the weakest link, which in many cases is good quality, sub-national scale data on actual yields that farmers achieve. In addition, calculation and interpretation of yield gaps requires reliable weather data, additional agronomic information and transparent assumptions.

The main types of methods used in yield benchmarking and gap analysis are outlined using selected case studies. The diversity of benchmarking methods outlined in this publication reflects the diversity of spatial and temporal scales, the questions asked, and the resources available to answer them. We grouped methods in four broad approaches.

Approach 1 compares actual yield with the best yield achieved in comparable environmental conditions, e.g. between neighbours with similar topography and soils. Comparisons of this type are spatially constrained by definition, and are an approximation to the gap between actual and attainable yield. With minimum input and greatest simplicity, this allows for limited but useful benchmarks; yield gaps can be primarily attributed to differences in management. This approach can be biased, however, where best management practices are not feasible; modelled yields provide more relevant benchmarks in these cases.

Approach 2 is a variation of approach 1, i.e. it is based on comparisons of actual yield, but instead of a single yield benchmark, yield is expressed as a function of one or few environmental drivers in simple models. In common with Approach 1, these methods do not necessarily capture best management practices. The French and Schultz model is the archetype in this approach; this method plots actual yield against seasonal water use, fits a boundary function representing the best yield for a given water use, and calculates yield gaps as the departure between actual yields and the boundary function. A boundary model fitted to the data provides a scaled benchmark, thus partially accounting for seasonal conditions. Boundary functions can be estimated with different statistical methods but it is recommended that the shape and parameters of boundary functions are also assessed on the basis of their biophysical meaning. Variants of this approach use nitrogen uptake or soil properties instead of water.

Approach 3 is based on modelling which may range from simple climatic indices to models of intermediate (e.g. AquaCrop) or high complexity (e.g. CERES-type models). More complex models are valuable agronomically because they capture some genetic features of the specific cultivar, and the critical interaction between water and nitrogen. On the other hand, more complex models have requirements of parameters and inputs that are not always available. "Best practice" approaches to model yield in gap analysis are outlined. Importantly, models to estimate potential yield require parameters that capture the physiology of unstressed crops.

Approach 4 benchmarking involves a range of approaches combining actual data, remote sensing, GIS and models of varying complexity. This approach is important for benchmarking at and above the regional scale. At these large scales, particular attention needs to be paid to weather data used in modelling yield because significant bias can accrue from inappropriate data sources. Studies that have used gridded weather databases to simulate potential and water-limited yields for a grid are rarely validated against simulated yields based on actual weather station data from locations within the same grid. This should be standard practice, particularly where global scale yield gaps are used for policy decisions or investment in R&D. Alternatively, point-based simulations of potential and water-limited yields, complemented with an appropriate up-scaling method, may be more appropriate for large scale yield gap analysis. Remote sensing applied to yield gap analysis has improved over the last years, mainly through pixel-based biomass production models. Site-specific yield validation, disaggregated in biomass radiation-use-efficiency and harvest index, remains necessary and need to be carried out every 5 to 10 years.

1. Introduction

Progress in crop production derives from advances in breeding and agronomy, including improvements in the spatial and temporal arrangement of crops in farming systems. The interaction between breeding and agronomy is widely acknowledged as a major driver of enhanced production. For instance, dwarfing genes in cereals lead to physiological improvement in grain/stem partitioning of dry matter with direct consequences for yield, but also allowed higher rates of nitrogen fertiliser with reduced risk of lodging in comparison with older, taller cultivars. Importantly, grass herbicides were critical to capture the benefits of short-stature cereals in mechanised production systems. The development and adoption of productivity enhancing technology can be stimulated or hindered by political, economic, environmental and infrastructure factors, as illustrated in Figure 1. Notwithstanding their importance, these factors are outside the scope of this publication. Likewise, we do not discuss policies to deal with yield gaps (Sumberg, 2012).

The challenges of global agriculture have been analysed exhaustively and the need has been established for sustainable improvement in agricultural production aimed at food security in a context of increasing pressure on natural resources (Cassman 2012; Connor and Mínguez 2012). Of a total global land area of 13,000 Mha, arable land and permanent crops account for by 12%, permanent meadows and pastures for 26%, forests for 30% whereas 32% of this land is unsuitable for agriculture (FAO 2011). Analysis that accounts for suitability of remaining land for cropping and alternative land uses concludes that expansion of cropping land to 2050 is likely to be small. Globally, 15% of arable land is irrigated and currently accounts for 42% of all crop production; 7100 km³ of water are consumed annually to produce food globally whereas feeding the world population of around 9 billion by 2050 would require an additional 2100 km³ year (Sumberg 2012; Rockstrom *et al.* 2012).

Whereas the importance of R&D investment in agriculture is increasingly recognised, better allocation of limited funding is essential to improve food production (Sumberg 2012; Connor and Mínguez 2012; Hall *et al.* 2013). In this context, the common and often large gap between actual and attainable yield is a critical target. Realistic solutions are required to close yield gaps in both small and large scale cropping systems worldwide; to make progress in this direction, we need:

- 1. Definitions and techniques to measure and model yield at different levels (actual, attainable, potential) and different scales in space (field, farm, region, global) and time (short, long term).
- 2. Identification of the causes of gaps between yield levels.
- 3. Management options to reduce the gaps where feasible.
- 4. Policies to favour adoption of gap-closing technologies.

In this context, the aim of this publication is to review the methods for yield gap analysis, and to use case studies to illustrate different approaches. Section 2 outlines the evolution of yield to highlight historical changes in the meaning of this term; this

(a) Time trends in FAO's Net Production Index (2004-2006 = 100) highlighting the sustained increase in productivity where infrastructure and policy favour development and adoption of technology. Examples of disruption in productivity caused by (b) drought in south-eastern Australia, where rainfall between 1997 and 2009 was 73 mm below average since the start of the 20th century (CSIRO, 2011); (c) European policies combined with climate and agronomic constraints; see for example Peltonen-Sainio *et al.* (2009) for a discussion of the effect of European policies on adoption of agricultural technologies in Finland and Brisson *et al.* (2010) for an account of recent yield stagnation in France; and (d) substantive changes in production systems triggered by changes in political systems in eastern Europe. (e) Highlights the sharp increase in total productivity against the slower improvement in productivity per capita where rates of population growth remain high in India.



leads to the definitions of yield used in this paper. Section 3 highlights the importance of explicit definitions of spatial and temporal scales in yield gap analysis, and discusses different data sources and their reliability. Desirable attributes of models in yield gap studies are discussed, including aspects of model structure, complexity, calibration, validation and input requirements. Section 4 is the core of this publication. It presents methods spanning a broad range of scales, complexities, input requirements and associated errors. Case studies include irrigated and rainfed crops in diverse cropping systems, from subsistence agriculture to high-input systems in North and South America, Africa, Europe, Asia and Oceania. Section 5 presents a summary and recommendations of methods for yield benchmarking and gap analysis.

2. Definitions of crop yield

2.1. EVOLUTION OF YIELD CRITERIA

Before agriculture, our ancestors were not unlike other animals, for which "yield" was the ratio between the energy derived from food and the energy invested in obtaining it. Once the sowing of crops was established as a common practice, the definition of yield shifted from an energy ratio to the ratio between the numbers of seed harvested and seed sown (Evans 1993). This was particularly important in low-yielding seasons, when early farmers had to make the hard decision of allocating seed for food or seed for the next sowing. An important consequence of this measure of yield was that selection favoured highly competitive plant types, i.e. abundant tillering/branching, large inflorescences, small grain and weak seed dormancy (Evans 1993). Only when availability of arable land came under pressure, mass of product per unit land area become a more important criterion.

This shift in definition of yield had a dramatic impact on selective pressures, shifting from the aggressive high-yielding plant (seeds per seed sown) to the less competitive "communal plant" able to produce more yield per unit area (Donald 1981). Evans (1993) envisaged the next measure of yield whereby the time dimension is considered explicitly, yield per ha per year. This measure is particularly important in the comparison of systems with contrasting cropping intensity, i.e. number of crops per year (Egli 2008; Cassman and Pingali 1995). Cassman and Pingali (1995) highlighted that the green revolution in rice had as much to do with increased cropping intensity as with increased harvest index and yield potential of semi-dwarf varieties. Thus, IR-8, the first modern rice cultivar, was much faster to mature than traditional rice land races it replaced (often by as much as 30–45 days) which allowed double rice cropping on irrigated land -now the dominant land use in rice-growing regions of South and Southeast Asia.

Increasing cropping intensity is widespread worldwide (Cassman and Pingali 1995; Farahani *et al.* 1998; Caviglia *et al.* 2004; Sadras and Roget 2004). In environments with favourable temperature and water availability, this involves a shift to multiple crops per year. This applies not only to the tropics, but also to temperate environments such as the Pampas of Argentina, where wheat-soybean double cropping is a dominant feature. In environments where rainfall or temperature prevents multiple cropping, such as dry environments of southern Australia, cropping intensity has been increasing at the expense of pastures. Thus, the concept of yield progress based on kg per ha will become inappropriate in some instances. Increasing cropping intensity could contribute to either stabilisation or decline in yield per crop. This was illustrated by Egli (2008), who reported an inverse relationship between rate of progress of yield of soybean crops and intensity of cropping measured as % of double crops in the system (Figure 2). Paradoxically, the best environments supporting higher cropping intensity showed the lowest rate of improvement in yield of individual crops.

Yield of individual crops, in kg per ha, is also inappropriate for comparisons of mainstream agriculture and organic production systems, as yield of individual crops does not account for the additional land, time, labour, and water cost of organic nutrients (Connor and Mínguez 2012). Meaningful comparisons of this kind must focus on the whole production system, rather than individual crops.

Explicitly measuring yield per unit area and time is therefore of increasing importance. Where multiple cropping is prevalent, yield gap analysis should target the system and its components; Section 4.1.4 presents an example of gap analysis in wheat-maize double crops in China.

2.2. YIELD DEFINITIONS

This publication focuses on economic yield of desired plant products; be they grain, oilseed, tubers, corms, sugar, fibre, forage, or energy content. Yields of individual crops are in a continuum from crop failure to potential and several authors have proposed definitions to account for this range (van Ittersum and Rabbinge 1997; Evans and Fischer 1999; Connor *et al.* 2011). From these sources, here we list the definitions of yield relevant for yield gap analysis (Figure 3).

Theoretical yield is the maximum crop yield as determined by biophysical limits to key process including biomass production and partitioning. It can be estimated with models with sound physiological structure, and parameters reflecting the biophysical boundaries of key processes. This benchmark is perhaps more useful for breeding (Box 1); given its agronomic focus, this publication will not deal with theoretical yield.

Potential yield (Yp) is the yield of a current cultivar "when grown in envi-

FIGURE 2

Decreasing rate of improvement of soybean yield in Kentucky (USA) with increasing cropping intensity, measured as percentage of wheat-soybean double cropping.



FIGURE 3

Definitions of yield relevant to yield gap analysis; arrows illustrate some yield gaps.



ronments to which it is adapted; with nutrients and water non limiting; and with pests, diseases, weeds, lodging, and other stresses effectively controlled" (Evans and Fischer 1999). Potential yield depends on location as it relates to weather but is independent of soil, which is assumed to be physically and chemically favourable for crop growth. The climate factors that influence potential yield are radiation, ambient CO_2 concentration and temperature (Evans and Fischer 1999; van Ittersum *et al.* 2013); photosynthesis, growth and potential yield are also responsive to fraction of diffuse radiation and vapour pressure deficit (Rodriguez and Sadras 2007). Potential yield is relevant to benchmark crops where irrigation, the amount and distribution of rainfall, or a combination of irrigation and rainfall ensure that water deficits do not constrain yield.

BOX 1 THEORETICAL YIELD

The biophysical boundaries of yield are important, for example, when we ask questions about the value of improved crop photosynthesis – What is the gap between current photosynthesis and the biological limit of this trait? What is the expected impact of enhanced photosynthesis on crop yield? (Parry *et al.* 2011).

Models like APSIM, CERES, CropSyst or SUCROS (Section 3.3) could be used to estimate theoretical yield. However, these models are normally parameterised against the *actual* crop phenotype (Lindquist *et al.* 2005), and therefore do not necessarily capture the biophysical boundaries of important processes such as photosynthesis. Thus, models to calculate theoretical yield need not only plausible physiological and agronomic assumptions but also parameters that capture these boundaries; this requires a theoretical approach.

Attempts have been made to establish an upper boundary for daily net production of biomass from biophysical principles (Connor *et al.* 2011; Loomis and Amthor 1999) and, separately, for the biological limit of harvest index (Foulkes *et al* 2009). The lack of independence between production and partitioning of biomass (Körner 1991) and trade-offs, for example between further increase in harvest index and lodging (Foulkes *et al.* 2011), are some of the many constraints to scale up from low levels of organisation and short time steps to seasonal growth and yield (Connor and Fereres 1999). Theoretical yield can therefore be derived from basic principles in two ways: modelling yield from the bottom up, or estimating the upper limit of key parameters such as radiation use efficiency, and use these theoretical parameters in crop-level models.

Theoretical yield is constrained by genotypic (e.g. canopy architecture, harvest index) and environmental drivers of crop development, growth and resource partitioning in non-stress conditions. Recognised environmental factors include solar radiation, ambient CO_2 concentration, temperature and photoperiod, as they modulate development and growth (Fischer 1985; Slafer *et al.* 2009). More recently, the list of environmental factors has been expanded to include proportion of diffuse radiation and vapour pressure deficit (Rodriguez 2007). For a given amount of radiation, photosynthesis increases with the proportion of diffuse radiation, that depends on atmospheric conditions and canopy traits (Spitters 1986; Sinclair and Shiraiwa 1993b; Roderik and Farquhar 2003). Stomatal conductance and photosynthesis decline with high vapour pressure deficit even in well-watered plants including irrigated rice and wetland species (Otieno *et al.* 2012; Ohsumi *et al.* 2008). Latitudinal gradients of both diffuse radiation and vapour pressure deficit have been described for the wheat-belt of eastern Australia, which account for part of the latitudinal gradients of crop yield potential (Rodriguez and Sadras, 2007).

Water-limited yield (Yw) is similar to yield potential, except that yield is also limited by water supply, and hence influenced by soil type (water holding capacity and rooting depth) and field topography. This measure of yield is relevant to benchmark rainfed crops.

Attainable yield is the best yield achieved through skilful use of the best available technology. Some studies use attainable yield as an approximation to either potential yield or water-limited yield (Hall *et al.* 2013).

Actual (Ya) reflects the current state of soils and climate, average skills of the farmers, and their average use of technology.

Yield gap is the difference between two levels of yield. Depending on the objectives of the study, different yield gaps are relevant (Figure 3). The *exploitable yield gap* accounts for both the unlikely alignment of all factors required for achievement of potential or water limited yield and the economic, management and environmental constraints that preclude, for example, the use of fertiliser rates that maximise yield, when growers' aim is often a compromise between maximising profit and minimising risk at the whole-farm scale, rather than maximising yield of individual crops (Box 2). To account for this, a factor (< 1) is used to scale yield potential and water-limited yield. A factor = 0.8 has been used in extensive production systems; higher factors may apply for high-value horticultural crops, and smaller factors in other systems depending on technological and economic (e.g. grain price) drivers.

BOX 2

MAXIMISING YIELD AND WATER PRODUCTIVITY – DOES IT MAKE SENSE?

The notion that yield and water productivity can be "optimised" provides a sound working hypothesis when we ask questions about the best combination of resources (land, water, nutrients, radiation, labour, capital). In real production settings, however, the maximum output (yield, water productivity) is rarely the best strategy as it may require cropping practices that are economically unsound or too risky in economic and environmental terms. To illustrate this point, we present two examples of trade-offs: between the efficiency in the use of water and nitrogen, as related to nitrogen supply in rice and maize, and between water productivity and yield of rice, as related to water regime.

Nitrogen-driven trade-off between water productivity and the efficiency in the use of nitrogen

High water productivity requires adequate nitrogen supply. However, the relationship between yield and nitrogen supply conforms to the law of diminishing returns, and therefore nitrogen use efficiency declines with increasing nitrogen supply. The effect of individual inputs such as water and nitrogen on the carbon, water and nitrogen budgets of crops thus determines a nitrogen-driven trade-off between water productivity and nitrogen use efficiency (Sadras and Rodriguez 2010). This is illustrated for aerobic and flooded rice in the Philippines and for rainfed and irrigated maize in the USA (Fig. Box 2-1).

Thus, maximising water productivity in some farming systems may require nitrogen rates that are too costly, too risky or environmentally unsound. This is particularly important with high fertiliser-to-grain price ratio, in environments prone to nitrogen leaching, or where biophysical, social, economic or infrastructure factors constraint the use of fertiliser.

Water-regime driven trade-off between rice yield and water productivity

Bouman *et al.* (2006) and Farooq *et al.* (2009) reviewed the water productivity of rice, of which about 90% is produced in irrigated or rain-fed lowland fields ("paddies"). Water for lowland rice needs to account for land preparation requirements, seepage, percolation, evaporation and transpiration. Combined seepage and percolation, for example, range from 1-5 mm d⁻¹ in heavy clay soils to a massive 25-30 mm d⁻¹ in sandy and sandy-loam soils (Bouman *et al.* 2006). In a context of water scarcity, water saving technologies are being explored to reduce water use and improve water productivity, including aerobic rice and alternate wetting and drying. The principle underlying these techniques is the increase in water productivity associated with reduced water input. However, water saving techniques can also reduce grain yield.

FIGURE BOX 2-1.

Nitrogen driven trade-off between water productivity and nitrogen utilisation efficiency in (a) flooded and (b) aerobic rice in the Philippines, and (c) rainfed and irrigated maize in USA. Water productivity is yield per unit irrigation + rainfall (a,b) or yield per unit evapotranspiration (c,d). In all cases nitrogen utilisation efficiency is grain yield per unit nitrogen uptake (excluding root N).



Comparison of rice crops grown under aerobic and flooded conditions in tropical environments of the Philippines (14° N) showed a substantial increase in water productivity at the expense of grain yield (Fig. Box 2-2). In relation to the flooded regime, aerobic culture increased average water productivity from 5.7 to 7.4 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹ and reduced yield from 6.4 to 5.7 t ha⁻¹. In contrast, aerobic rice crops in temperate environments of Japan (34-350 N) outperformed their flooded counterparts in terms of water productivity (average 8.3 vs. 3.4 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹) and showed no yield penalty (average 8.6 vs. 8.1 t ha⁻¹) (Kato *et al.* 2009).

For a large number of crops in central-northern India and Philippines, alternate wetting and drying improved water productivity of rice in comparison with the flooded checks, but yield penalties up to 70% were recorded. Further studies in lowland rice areas with heavy soils and shallow (0.1-0.4 m) groundwater tables in China and Philippines showed that alternate wetting and drying outperformed their flooded counterparts in terms of water productivity (Fig. 3c) with no associated yield penalties (Fig. 3d). In all these cases, extremely shallow groundwater tables allowed for ponded water depths that were typically within the root zone during the drying periods (Bouman *et al.* 2006).

In summary, cultural practices to improve water productivity are obviously desirable, but need to be seen in the broader context of agronomic, economic and environmental trade-offs. Some trade-offs are inherent to the biophysical features of cropping systems, and cannot be broken. The nitrogen-driven trade-off between water and nitrogen productivity belongs to this category. This type of trade-off may lead to practices that do not necessarily maximise water productivity, but rather account for multiple objectives: lower rates of nitrogen fertiliser and associated low water productivity may be justified in terms of reduced economic and environmental risk. The trade-off between yield and water productivity associated with water saving techniques can be broken in some instances, as illustrated in Fig. Box 2-2. Water saving techniques that improve water productivity at the expense of grain yield can be justified in some cases, but research should be encouraged to identify the conditions



The gap between potential and water limited yield is an indication of yield gap that can be removed with irrigation. For example, modelling studies in cropping systems of Bolivia compared yield of rainfed quinoa, from 0.2 to 1.1 t ha^{-1} , with yield under irrigation aimed at avoiding stomatal closure during all sensitive growth stages from 1.5 to 2.2 t ha⁻¹, thus representing gaps around 1.2 t ha⁻¹ (Geerts *et al.* 2009). Yield responses to irrigation for major annual and perennial crops have been recently reviewed by FAO (Steduto *et al.* 2012).

In addition to yield gaps outlined in Figure 3, other yield gaps can be defined that, for example, compare different cropping technologies such as nutrient management (Section 4.1.2) and irrigation regimes (Section 4.3.4).

3. Scales, data sources and overview of methods

Yield gaps can be quantified at different scales in space and time (Hall *et al.* 2013). Hence, the accuracy and precision^a of basic data for yield gap analysis need to be considered in relation to the target spatial and temporal scale. Spatially, yield gaps have been quantified at levels of field e.g. (French and Schultz 1984b), region e.g. (Casanova *et al.*1999), national or mega-environment e.g. (Caldiz *et al.* 2002) and globally e.g. (Licker *et al.* 2008). Variation of yield within fields is the focus of site-specific management (Cassman 1999). No attempt has been made, however, to capture within-field variation in yield gap analysis.

Some yield gap studies do not make explicit assumptions about time scale, some have explicitly used time series that are long enough to span a wide weather range but short enough to meet the assumption of constant technology, and some have explicitly used time series to characterise time-trends in yield gaps. In addition to the accuracy of yield data, reliable weather data, additional agronomic information and transparent assumptions are essential for calculation and interpretation of yield gaps, as discussed in the next Sections.

3.1. ACTUAL YIELD DATA: SPATIAL SCALES AND ACCURACY

The accuracy of estimating yield gaps is determined by the weakest link, which in many cases is good quality, sub-national scale data on actual yields that farmers achieve (Van Ittersum *et al.* 2013). Monfreda *et al.* (2008) and You *et al.* (2009) comprehensively reviewed yield data availability. There are three main levels of spatial resolution at which actual yield data can be available:

- (i) First-level administrative units: district, region, province, country.
- (ii) Second-level administrative units: municipality, county, sub-district.
- (iii) Farmer-reported data or data collected through surveys from relatively smaller areas.

Current global yield databases are mostly based on data around year 2000 reported in the Agro-Maps (FAO *et al.* 2006; FAO 2012) for the first and, sometimes second, levels of administrative units complemented with interpolation methods to achieve full spatial coverage (Monfreda *et al.* 2008; You *et al.* 2009). More accurate geospatial distribution of current crop yields and their spatio-temporal variability are needed and yields of irrigated and rainfed crops must be distinguished within administrative units where both forms of production exist. An example of this kind is the USDA-NASS database where long-term (30+ years) county-level yield data are available, separately for each crop species, under each water supply regime, as illustrated for maize in Figure 4. Importantly, a good understanding of local conditions is essential to avoid data misinterpretation; e.g. owing to the "millennium drought", yield maps around year 2000 are a biased snapshot for production systems of Australia (Figure 1).

^a See *Glossary* for definitions of this and other terms.



Many countries where yield-gap analysis is urgently needed have no data at the second, or even first, spatial level (Monfreda *et al.* 2008; You *et al.* 2009). For example, You *et al.* (2009) reported that only a few Sub-Saharan Africa countries (Benin, Cameroon, D.R. Congo, Uganda, Zambia, Mozambique) have more than 10 crops with yields reported at sub-national scale, that is, at the district, region, or province level (Figure 5). For other

countries (Angola, Republic of Congo, Gabon, Ivory Coast) production data are only available at the country level. Cowpea, bean, maize and cassava have the most complete sub-national data coverage, with data for over 70% of total sub-national units. Over all crops and countries in Sub-Saharan Africa, there is an approximately 40% coverage of sub-national data. Sub-national data (municipality, county, or sub-district) are not currently available for most Sub-Saharan Africa countries. Another problem is that, in many countries, average yields are not crop-specific, that is, they are only reported for aggregate crop categories such as 'grain', 'fruit', 'pulses', and 'vegetables' (Monfreda et al. 2008). Some projects are currently underway to achieve greater spatial resolution and specificity with regard to crop species; such as Global Futures (http://globalfuturesproject.com/) and



construction of a number of household panel survey datasets are in progress at several international agricultural research centres.

Because national and sub-national yield averages are based, in many countries, on estimates and surveys, the accuracy of reported yield should be evaluated by comparison against independently collected data and direct on-farm measurements and monitoring. For example, Wairegi *et al.* (2010) found the FAO-reported country-level average banana yield for Uganda of 5.5 t ha⁻¹ (by year 2007) underestimated measured yield in control plots of a nationwide on-farm trail conducted in the same year, in

FIGURE 6

Comparison between average farmer-reported Natural Resource District (NRD) in Nebraska, USA, and USDA-NASS county-level average maize and soybean yields (upper and bottom panels, respectively).



Data include three NRDs: Tri-Basin (2005-2010), Lower Platte (LP) North (2004-2011), and Lower Big Blue (2000-2011). Irrigated and rainfed crops in the LP North NRD are indicated with solid and open symbols, respectively. Note that no data on rainfed yields are available for the Tri-Basin and Lower Big Blue NRDs. Dashed lines indicate 1-to-1 line.

Source: Grassini et al. (unpublished).

which yield averages ranged from 9.7 to 20 t ha⁻¹ across major producing areas. In a broader analysis, Tittonell and Giller (2013) compared two sources of yield data for several crops in eastern and southern Africa. They concluded that, despite its wide coverage, FAO's national average yield was close to the mid-range yield reported in the scientific literature for maize, sorghum, millet and some grain legumes. In contrast, the FAO average yield for cassava and highland banana was closer to the lower end of the yield range found in the literature.

Kim and Dale (2004) compared yield of cereals and sugarcane from two sources, FAOSTATS and national databases, for a number of countries between 1997 and 2001. The two sources were in close agreement for all reported crops in Canada and USA (difference below 1%). Large mismatches were found for Mexico (up to 33% for oats) and for rice in Japan, Korea and Mexico (\geq 25%). Despite some uncertainties, the FAO database provides long-term time series for most crops and countries that are otherwise unavailable or difficult to obtain (Tittonell and Giller 2013; Kim and Dale 2004).

Grassini et al. (unpublished) found good agreement between county-average yield for soybean and corn reported by USDA-NASS and average yields estimated from farmer-reported data in three Nebraska Natural Resources Districts located in the same counties, in the same years (Figure 6). USDA-NASS average yields are based on harvested yields, reported by a sample of farmers within each county, verified with independent yield samples taken by USDA staff when the crop reaches maturity. For the Natural Resources Districts in Nebraska, all farmers within the reporting areas send their crop yield reports to the local district office together, in many cases, with yield maps

and elevator tickets. These independent quality-control checks can help identify problems and improve the method to estimate and report actual yields.

Comparisons of databases of wheat, soybean and maize acreages and yields estimated by a pair of independent organisations in Argentina (Ministerio de Agricultura vs. *BC*, Bolsa de Cereales de Buenos Aires) indicated a high degree of consistency between data sources, as reflected in high correlation coefficients (i.e. high precision) (Sadras *et al.* 2013b). However, a significant mismatch between sources was found that was inversely proportional to acreage. This means that for some applications, for example calcula-

tion of relative rate of progress in grain production, both data sources would return statistically equivalent results. This is not the case for questions requiring accuracy, such as estimates of actual regional production.

Local yield gap analysis can also benefit from data collected through government and industry organisations, including growers marketing cooperatives. As regulatory pressures on environmental performance of agriculture increase (e.g., water quality, endangered species, greenhouse gas emissions), the standard and requirements for farmer reporting is likely to increase. For example, the national organisation of New Zealand's grape and wine sector requires for all members to complete their annual survey as a condition for accreditation for the Sustainable Winegrowing New Zealand program (Campbell 2013). This leads to greater availability of high quality yield, acreage and input data (fertilisers, irrigation amount, pesticides, etc), which provides opportunities to quantify impact of management practices on yield and efficiencies of water and nutrients as a complement to high-cost, multi-year, multi-site field studies e.g. (Grassini et al. 2011) . A pre-condition is that on-farm yield data must be of sufficient detail and quality (i.e. include field location, water regime and other significant agronomic information) and capture a representative population of farmers over several cropping seasons. Accuracy of farmerreported data can be assured when complemented with yield maps, elevator tickets, etc., and/or validated against other independent sources of yield data for the same region. The farmer-data reporting system of the Nebraska Natural Resources Districts is an example of a high-quality database that includes field-specific information on yield and inputs across many fields over many years (Figure 7). Data reported by a popula-

FIGURE 7

Box-plots of farmer-reported maize yield, applied irrigation, and N fertiliser during the 2004-2011 interval in the Lower Platte North Natural Resource District in Nebraska (USA) for irrigated (I) and rainfed (R) maize.



Box plots indicate: median (horizontal lines), 25 and 75 percentiles (box), 10 and 90 percentiles (bars), and 5 and 95 percentiles (solid circles). Average number of observations, across years, was 400 and 50 for irrigated and rainfed maize crops, respectively.

Source: Grassini et al. (unpublished).

Dynamics of nitrogen fertilisation in France according to three sources: AGRESTE (Statistical Service of the French Ministry of Agriculture), ONIGC (French National Office of Arable Crops), and ARVALIS (French Technical Institute for Cereal Crops).



tion of farmers allow analysis of variation in yield and input-use efficiency across farms. Furthermore, when these data are complemented with more detailed data on crop, soil, inputs and management practices (e.g., tillage, irrigation scheduling, sowing date), they can help to identify region-specific sets of management practices that give highest yields and input-use efficiencies with lowest risk (Grassini and Cassman 2012).

As with yield, the reliability of other important data such as fertiliser use depends on source and scale. Figure 8 illustrates the discrepancy in nitrogen fertilisation rates in France among three sources. Irrespective of the source of data, a good understanding of the farming system is important to reduce likelihood of artefacts and misinterpretation of data. To illustrate this point, Figure 9 shows the dynamics of rhizoctonia bare patch caused by *Rhizoctonia solani* Kühn

AG-8 in wheat crops after the establishment of direct drill. Under South Australian conditions, impact of the disease peaks after 5–6 years from implementation of direct drill technology, and decreases afterwards with the development of disease-suppressing microorganisms in the soil (Roget 1995). In this scenario, sampling for yield in 1983-84 would have returned larger yield gaps than after 1988. The example in Figure 9 applies to individual fields; at regional level, spread of adoption of direct drill could lead to different patterns, highlighting again the importance of scale. The



next Section summarises approaches able to deal with this type of variation and Section 3.3.3 expands on the importance of cropping system context for modelling aspects of yield gap analysis.

3.2. TEMPORAL SCALES

The approach used to define time scale for yield gap analysis depends on the objectives of the study, but the assumptions must be transparent and consistent with the requirements for critical interpretation of results. Time scales can be defined that either remove or capture the dynamic components of the environment (soil, climate, biotic components of ecosystems) and technology. Over time for example, pathogens and weeds can build up gradually, temperature can increase, rainfall decline and soil nutrients can be depleted; all these trends could lead to increasing yield gaps. Changes in the opposite direction, e.g. establishment of disease suppression microorganisms (Figure 9) can contribute to narrowing gaps over time. We assume that effects of other drivers of crop production, including shifts in markets and policy, are meditated by development and adoption of technology (Figure 1).

3.2.1. Removing the dynamic components of environment and technology

The number of years required to estimate actual yield is a compromise between a time series that is long enough to capture variation in weather, and short enough to avoid trends associated with technological and environmental change (van Ittersum et al. 2013; Calviño and Sadras 1999). van Ittersum et al. (2013) illustrate this balance for irrigated maize in Nebraska and a favourable environment for rainfed wheat production in The Netherlands (Figure 10). In both cases, yields from the five most recent years were enough to obtain estimates of the average yield and the coefficient of variation that are similar to those obtained with yields from the last 10 years. In harsh environments for rainfed crop production, 10 years is needed for Nebraska and even more are needed for Australia. Less than five years in these harsh production environments leads to biased estimates of average yield and coefficient of variation through the influence of years with exceptionally high or low seasonal rainfall. Finally, note that a longer time interval (20 years) may bias the estimates of average yield and coefficient of variation due to the technological change, i.e. improved varieties and agronomy, and to a lesser extent changes in climate, as shown for irrigated and rainfed maize in Nebraska and wheat in The Netherlands.

3.2.2. Capturing the dynamic components of environment and technology

The second approach to deal with time series is to explicitly quantify the changes in yield gaps over time. Laborte *et al.* (2012) presented a dynamic view of yield gaps accounting for the differential rate of yield progress through time. It revealed that Philippine rice growers in the upper quantiles improved yield much faster than growers in the lower quantiles, hence broadening the yield gap with time (Figure 11). Section 4.3.2 presents further details of this study.

Bell and Fischer (1994) compared actual and modelled wheat yield in the irrigated Yaqui Valley of northwestern Mexico between 1968 and 1990 (Figure 12). Actual yield increased linearly at a rate of 57 kg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹. Modelled yield accounting for weatherbased potential yield declined at 46 kg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹; this was putatively associated with a

Trends in grain yields of (a) irrigated and rainfed maize in Nebraska, (b) wheat in The Netherlands and wheat in Wimmera (South-east Australia). Sequential average yields in (c) Nebraska, (d) The Netherlands and Wimmera, and associated coefficients of variation for (e) Nebraska, and (f) Wimmera and The Netherlands as calculated based on 1, 2, 3 ... n years of yield data starting from the most recent year (2011 for Nebraska and 2009 for The Netherlands and Wimmera) and going backwards.



Source: van Ittersum et al. (2012).

mild warming trend over the period. The gap between actual and modelled yield thus declined at 103 kg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹. Using this dynamic perspective, the authors concluded that allowance for the temporal temperature change showed that the returns from improved crop management and breeding were superior to those suggested by the increase in actual yield.

Van den Berg and Singels (2012) compared actual yield records and simulated yield potential of sugarcane in five agroclimatic regions of South Africa. The gap between

(a) The rate of rice yield improvement between 1966 and 1979 in Central Luzon (Philippines) was much larger for growers in the top quantiles than for those in the lower quantiles As a consequence the gap between the yield of best and average farmers (b) almost doubled during this period In (a) the red lines represent the ordinary least squares estimate and the 90% confidence interval of the estimate. The gray area refers to the 90% confidence band for the quantile regression estimates.



FIGURE 12

Time trends in actual and modelled yield, and yield gap of wheat in the irrigated Yaqui Valley of northwest Mexico between 1968 and 1990. Modelled yields are estimates with CERES-Wheat, assuming no change in cultivar or management, thus accounting for weather-based potential yield.



potential and actual yield averaged 33% for large scale growers and 53% for small scale growers but periods of widening and narrowing gaps were identified in the 22-year

Time trend in the area planted to sugarcane in the state of São Paulo, Brazil, where the yield gap was ≤ 20%. Yield gap is the difference between actual and water-limited yield.



time series of this study; biotic factors such as stem borers possibly contributed to the dynamics of these yield gaps.

Marin and de Carvalho (2012) mapped the gap between actual and water-limited yield of sugar cane in the state of São Paulo (Brazil) and reported a reduction in the gap from 58% in 1990/91 to 42% in 2005/06. The planted area where the yield gap was 20% or less increased markedly after the 2000s (Figure 13). Deployment of improved management underlying the narrowing of this gap was partially associated with higher gasoline-to-ethanol price ratio since the beginning of the 2000s and the availability of biofuel vehicles in Brazil after 2002.

In contrast to the narrowing of yield gaps whereby improved technology over-rides potentially negative factors such increasing insect pressure, Tittonell and Giller (2013) present an example of increasing yield gap between fertilised and unfertilised maize in association with depletion of soil nutrients over a 10-year time series in Ivory Coast. Continuous cropping without sufficient input of nutrients and organic matter may lead to significant soil degradation and increasing yield gaps with both technological (i.e. lack of response to improved varieties) and social (i.e. chronic poverty) consequences.

In all the cases outlined in this Section, a dynamic perspective exposes a significant dimension of yield gap.

3.3. MODELLED YIELD

Credible assessment of the impact of technology, soils, current and future climate on food production depends on our ability to estimate crop yields accurately in response to these sources of variation. Crop simulation models, validated on their ability to reproduce major interactions between genotype, environment and management, can help estimate potential and water-limited yields. Here we outline desirable features of models to use in yield gap analysis, and look critically at bias in modelled yield associated with the source of weather data.

3.3.1. Desirable attributes of models in yield gap studies

Van Ittersum *et al.* (2013) summarised desirable attributes for models to be used in yield gap analysis. These include use of daily time step weather data, capacity to capture management practices that influence yield (e.g. sowing date, plant density, cultivar maturity), eco-physiological in structure, crop specificity, low requirement of cultivar-specific parameters, proved performance through validation and peer-reviewed publications, full documentation of parameterisation, and user friendly interface. The study of Rötter *et al.* (2012) further highlights the importance of local model calibration.

Crop simulation models estimate different yield levels, depending on the assumptions and modelling approach. Crop models with typically daily time-step and
sufficient detail of physiological principles can be used to estimate yield potential. This involves the assumptions of non-limiting water and nitrogen. Estimates using actual weather, and consequently a certain frequency and intensity of water stress, could be considered closer to water-limited vield. Indeed, modelled vield often reproduces the upper boundary of measured yield under water limiting conditions (Angus & van Herwaarden 2001). Models such as CERES, APSIM, CropSyst, ORYZA2000 and AquaCrop are suitable for estimating both yield potential and water-limited yield (Bouman et al. 2001; Jones et al. 2003; Keating et al. 2003; Stöckle et al. 2003; Steduto et al. 2009).



There are two trade-offs to consider in selecting modelling methods. First, there is a trade-off between error due to structure and error due parameters represented in Figure 14. In general, errors associated with structure are reduced when the realism, hence the complexity, of the models increase. The downside of increasing model complexity is a larger number of parameters to be quantified, with the consequent increase in error due to parameters. Second, there is a trade-off between the convenience and likelihood of model adoption and the requirements of data to parameterise and apply models.

3.3.2. Weather data for modelling crop yield

The models commonly used to simulate potential and water-limited yield require a minimum data set of daily weather variables including incident solar radiation, maximum and minimum temperature, precipitation, and some measure of humidity, i.e. relative humidity, actual vapour pressure, dew point temperature. If measured solar radiation is not available (which is often the case), then simulations can be based on the NASA agroclimatology solar radiation data, except at sites with complex topography (Bai *et al.* 2010) or atmospheric pollution (Stanhill and Cohen 2001).

More than 30 weather data sources have been used in agricultural research, but few have been used for simulating yields (Ramirez-Villegas and Challinor 2012). The main differences among sources of the weather databases used to simulate potential and water-limited yields are: (i) observed site-specific vs. interpolated gridded data, (ii) temporal resolution (daily vs. monthly), and (iii) spatial resolution (among gridded databases) (Table 1). Gridded weather data are uniformly distributed within each spatial cell. Values within cells are typically derived by interpolating weather data based on coordinates of the sites within the grid and in nearest-neighbour grids, taking in consideration distance from each other, elevation, and other variables. Gridded weather data have the advantage of full geospatial coverage, but they are derived, not observed data. Various authors have demonstrated that interpolated monthly observations may lead to over-estimation of simulated yields in particular in locations with high dayto-day variability in weather (Soltani and Hoogenboom 2007; van Bussel *et al.* 2011); interpolation of monthly precipitation data in particular leads to substantial error an should therefore be avoided in all cases.

TABLE 1

Ō	
ē	
⊒.	
Σ.	
<u> </u>	
2	
5	
_	
5	
8	
ŏ	
é	
6	
Ē	
~	
_ ` _`	
¥	
Ŧ	
Ś	
F	
6	
Ñ	
<u>و</u>	
ā	
d)	
ے	
∓	
2	
-=	
Ō	
ő	
ŝ	
å	
Ň	
g	
ä	
ĩ	
a	
o	
Ľ	
ЭĘ	
₽	
σ	
٩,	
5	
÷.,	
≥	
÷	
2	
ť	
ž	
ō	
õ	
Š	
<u>u</u>	
a	
<u> </u>	
_	
.	
Ē	
ultı	
icultu	
gricultu	
agricultu	
e agricultu	
re agricultı	
ure agricultu	
uture agricultu	
future agricultu	
d future agricultu	
nd future agricultu	
and future agricultu	
t and future agricultu	
nt and future agricultu	
ent and future agricultu	
rrent and future agricultu	
urrent and future agricultu	
current and future agricultu	
d current and future agricultu	
nd current and future agricultu	
and current and future agricultu	
stand current and future agricultu	
rstand current and future agricultu	
lerstand current and future agricultu	
nderstand current and future agricultu	
understand current and future agricultu	
o understand current and future agricultu	
to understand current and future agricultu	
to understand current and future agricultu	
ed to understand current and future agricultu	
sed to understand current and future agricultu	
used to understand current and future agricultu	
s used to understand current and future agricultu	
es used to understand current and future agricultu	
ases used to understand current and future agricultu	
bases used to understand current and future agricultu	
abases used to understand current and future agricultu	
stabases used to understand current and future agricultu	
databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
r databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
er databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
her databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
ither databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
sather databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
veather databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
weather databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
al weather databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
bal weather databases used to understand current and future agricult	
obal weather databases used to understand current and future agricult	
jlobal weather databases used to understand current and future agricult	
$^{\mathrm{t}}$ global weather databases used to understand current and future agricult	
of global weather databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
of global weather databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
on of global weather databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
ion of global weather databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
stion of global weather databases used to understand current and future agricult	
cation of global weather databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
fication of global weather databases used to understand current and future agricult	
sification of global weather databases used to understand current and future agricult	
issification of global weather databases used to understand current and future agricultu	
lassification of global weather databases used to understand current and future agricultu	

Classification	Source	Time Step	Reference and time interval	Geospatial coverage	Reported variables *	Examples
Point-based data	Weather stations	Daily	HPRCC ^a , CMA ^b , DWD ^c (1983-2010)	Regional	Tmin, Tmax, Precip, Wind speed, Tdew, RH, Vapor Pressure, Radiation	Sinclair & Rawlins. (1993); Grassini et <i>al.</i> (2009)
		I	NOAA ^d (1900-2010)	Global	Tmin, Tmax, Precip, Tdew, Wind speed, RH, Vapor Pressure	
Gridded data	Interpolated and generated based on data from weather	Daily	NCEP/DOE Reanalysis II ^e (1979-2010)	Global (2.5° x 2.5°) (~70,000 km²)	Tmin, Tmax, Wind speed, Precip, RH, Wind speed, Radiation	Lobell & Asner. (2003); Twine & Kucharik. (2009)
	stations, satellites, ocean buoys, etc.	1	ERA-Interim Reanalysis (1989-2013) f	Global (1.5° x 1.5°) (~25,000 km²)	Tmin, Tmax, Wind speed, Precip, RH, Wind speed, Radiation	Rötter. (1993); de Wit e <i>t al.</i> (2010)
	Interpolated from weather stations	Monthly	CRU05 (3.10) ⁹ , Univ. Delaware Climate Dataset (1961-2009)	Giobal (0.5° x 0.5°) (~3,000 km²)	Tmin, Tmax, Total Precip, number of wet days, Vapor Pressure	Bondeau et <i>al.</i> (2007); Licker <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2010)
		Average 50-y month- ly mean	WorldClim ^h (1950-2000)	Global (1 km²)	Tmin, Tmax, Total Precip, number of wet days	Nelson et al. (2010); Ortiz et al., (2008)
	Satellite	Daily	NASA-Power i (1983-2010) except precip (1997-2010)	Global 1° x 1° (~12,000 km²)	Tmin, Tmax, Precip, Tdew, Radiation, RH	Lobell et <i>al.</i> , (2010)
* Minimum temr	nerature (Tmin), maximun	n temnerature (Ti	max) precipitation (precip) dev	w point temperature (Tdew), r	elative humidity (RH) incident solar radiation (radiatio	(u

-5

^a Minimum temperature (Timu), maximum temperature (Timax), precipitation (p) ^a High Plains Regional Climate Center (HPRCC). http://www.cma.gov.cn/english/

^b China Meteorological Administration (CMA). http://www.cma.gov.cn/english/ ^c German Weather Service (DWD). http://www.dwd.de/

^d National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA): http://www7.ncdc.noaa.gov/CDO/cdo

e National Center for Environmental Prediction/Department of Energy (NCEP). http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/psd/data/gridded/data.ncep.reanalysis2.html

^f ECMWVF re-analysis (ERA): http://www.ecmwf.int/research/era/do/get/era-interim

^g Climate Research Unit (CRU). http://badc.nerc.ac.uk/data/cru/

^h WorldClim. http://www.worldclim.org/

ⁱ National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA). http://power.larc.nasa.gov/

Source: van Wart et al. (2013).

Observed daily weather data are unavailable in many cropping regions but gridded global weather databases with complete terrestrial coverage are available. These are typically derived from global circulation computer models, interpolated weather station data, or remotely sensed surface data from satellites. Studies that have used gridded weather databases to simulate yield potential and water-limited yield are rarely validated against simulated yields based on actual weather station data from a location within the same grid.

Van Wart et al. (2013) compared three gridded weather databases (CRU, NCEP/DOE, and NASA POWER data) for simulation of water-limited maize yields in four loca-

FIGURE 15

Simulated rainfed maize water-limited yield (Yw) across four sites in the USA Corn using weather data from (a) NOAA weather stations (Tmax, Tmin, precipitation, and humidity) coupled with gridded solar radiation data from NASA-POWER database, (b) gridded NCEP data, (c) gridded CRU data and (d) gridded NASA plotted against simulated Yw based on high-quality weather data from meteorological stations of the High Plains Regional Climate Center (HPRCC) network.



Source: van Wart et al. (submitted)

tions across the US Corn Belt (Figure 15). Simulations of water-limited yields based on recorded daily data from well-maintained weather stations were taken as controls. Agreement between simulations of water-limited maize yields based on control weather and those based on gridded weather databases was poor with the latter having strong bias and large root mean square error, 32% to 46% of absolute mean yield across locations and years. Of particular note was the average upward bias of about 4.0 t ha⁻¹ estimated by CRU and NASA. Water deficit (estimated as the difference between sowing-to-maturity total rainfall and reference evapotranspiration) and solar radiation had a large influence on discrepancies between simulated water-limited maize yields estimated by global and control weather databases. In contrast, simulated water-limited yield using observed daily weather data from stations in the NOAA database combined with solar radiation from the NASA-POWER database were in better agreement with water-limited yields simulated with control weather data (i.e., little bias and an RMSE of 16% of the absolute mean). These results highlight the likely bias of simulated agricultural productivity under current and future weather conditions in studies relying on gridded global weather databases. In contrast, point-based simulations of potential and water-limited yields, complemented with an appropriate up-scaling method, perhaps based on agro-ecological zones schemes, may be a more robust approach to achieve full terrestrial coverage without losing accuracy on the estimates of yield potential and water-limited yields (van Ittersum et al. 2013).

3.3.3. Modelling yield within the context of a cropping system

For a given region, potential and water-limited yield can be simulated for recommended sowing dates, planting density and cultivar (which determines growing period to maturity). However, sowing dates and cultivar maturity need to reflect the dominant cropping system. The cropping system "context" is critically important in dictating feasible growth duration, particularly in tropical and sub-tropical environments where two or even three crops are produced each year on the same land. Farmers attempt to maximise output of their entire cropping system rather than the yield or profit of individual crops. Likewise, where machinery and labour are limiting or costly, achieving recommended sowing dates may not be feasible for the entire farm. Hence, capturing the spread of sowing dates and of season length is relevant to calculate potential yield or water-limited yield. In all cases, the assumptions must be transparent and consistent with the objectives for proper interpretation of results.

In this way, Grassini *et al.* (2011) simulated an average yield potential of 15.4 t ha⁻¹ for irrigated maize in south-central Nebraska (USA) using current average farmer management practices. However, simulations indicated that use of longer maturity hybrids and higher plant populations could increase average potential yield but trade-offs limited their adoption by farmers, at least under current grain to input price ratios. Trade-offs associated with longer maturity hybrids include higher risk of frost before physiological maturity, difficulties in harvest operations due to wet weather and snow, and grain drying costs. Likewise, yield and economic benefits from higher plant populations can be reduced, or even eliminated, as a result of higher seed costs, higher plant-to-plant variability if intra-row spacing is not uniform and greater incidence of lodging and green snap. Therefore, simulated yield potential based on current dominant management practices may be a more meaningful benchmark for farmers dealing with the trade-off between maximising net return and minimising risk.

4. Approaches to benchmark yield and quantify yield gaps

Analysis of gaps between yield levels allows for identification of constraints, trade-offs and opportunities for improvement. The exploitable yield gap has the greatest practical interest in the context of improving agricultural production. In this Section, we outline the main types of methods used in yield benchmarking and gap analysis using selected case studies. The methods span a broad range of scales, complexities, input requirements and associated errors. We grouped methods in four broad approaches.

Approach 1 compares actual yields with maximum yields measured in high-yielding farmer's fields, experimental stations, or growers contests. Comparisons of this type are spatially constrained by definition, and are an approximation to the gap between actual and attainable yield. This approach can be biased, however, where best management practices are not feasible; in these cases modelled yields provide more relevant benchmarks. Approach 2 is based on comparisons of actual yield, but instead of a single yield benchmark, yield is expressed as a function of one or few environmental drivers in simple models, usually using boundary functions as reference. In common with Approach 1, these methods do not necessarily capture best management practices. Approach 3 is based on modelling which may range from simple climatic indices to models of intermediate (e.g. AquaCrop) or high complexity (e.g. CERES). Approach 4 involves a range of methods combining remote sensing, actual data, GIS, and models of varying complexity. This approach is mostly used at and above the regional scale.

4.1. APPROACH 1: HIGH-YIELDING FIELDS, EXPERIMENTAL STATIONS AND GROWERS CONTESTS

Yields in farmer's fields can be benchmarked against various references, including the best performing crops in neighbouring fields, yield in experimental stations or yields in growers contests where similar soil, topography, weather, and biotic conditions apply.

4.1.1. Sunflower in rainfed systems of Argentina

Hall *et al.* (2013) benchmarked yield of rainfed sunflower at the regional to national level in Argentina. The 2.25 Mha sunflower-growing area was categorised, on the basis of expert opinions, into eight regions. Within each region, reported yields for those districts contributing most to total regional yield were used to estimate mean actual yield on a yearly basis. Mean yields from comparative yield trials were used as an estimate of attainable yields for each year and region combination. These attainable yields approximate water-limited yields (Section 2.2). Years of suitable data varied across regions from 5 to 9. The actual/attainable yield gap was significant in all regions, and ranged between 20 and 77 % of mean actual yields, which – in turn - ranged from 1.52 to 2.25 t ha⁻¹ across regions. At a whole-country level, the mean actual/attainable yield gap was 0.75 t ha⁻¹, equivalent to 41% of mean country yield of 1.85 t ha⁻¹.

For five of the eight regions, yield data for individual fields were also available. Mean individual field yields in these regions were significantly lower than attainable yield estimates derived from comparative yield trials, but the mean values for the top deciles of commercial fields (an alternative estimate of attainable yield) were indistinguishable (three regions) or slightly greater (two regions) than the estimates of attainable yield derived from comparative yield trial estimates. A third estimate of mean regional attainable yield, the 95th percentile of ranked reporting district yields pooled across years and reporting districts within each region, was also calculated. These estimates, which importantly do not allow calculation of yearly values of the actual/attainable yield gaps, underestimated mean attainable yields derived from comparative yield trials in four out of eight regions and attainable yields derived from individual fields in all five regions for which this data was available. These contrasts between estimates of attainable yield are useful as indicators of strengths and weakness of the three approaches.

An important additional message arising from the whole analysis, and which bears on the use of model-derived estimates of attainable yield, was the overriding importance of spatial and inter-annual variation in environmental (including management) conditions on yield. This was evident in the databases for reporting districts, for comparative yield trials, and for individual commercial fields. More effort is needed to understand the causes of this variability and, especially, on the effects of spatial scale on the values of actual/attainable yield gap estimates.

4.1.2. Maize in sub-Saharan Africa

Sileshi et al. (2010) compared actual maize yield obtained with inorganic and organic nutrient inputs with control (no input) on experimental stations and farm fields. The comparison also involved yield gaps with inorganic and organic fertilisers, i.e. in situ green manure from sunhemp (Crotalaria spp.), velvetbean (Mucuna spp.), sesbania (Sesbania spp.), tephrosia (Tephrosia spp.) and gliricidia (Gliricidia sepium) on different site conditions. For each input tested at a given site or in a particular season, there was a corresponding grain yield from maize grown continuously without external nutrient input (control) thus constituting a pair of means (treatment and control). The number of countries covered, number studies, pairs of means extracted and robust parameter estimates of yield gaps for each treatment are summarised in Table 2. This analysis did not apply the hierarchy of yields commonly used for gap analysis (Section 2.2); instead, an ad hoc gap was defined as the difference in grain yield between maize grown using a given nutrient input and the control under a specific study condition.

or maize grain yield (t ha ') from various son fertility management inputs.							
	Control	Fertiliser	Sunhemp	Velvetbean	Sesbania	Tephrosia	Gliricidia
Number of countries	12	13	11	12	7	9	5
Number of studies	110	71	39	45	42	28	14
Pairs of means [#]	473	346	214	242	262	177	114
Estimated mean	1.4	3.9	3.3	2.8	2.9	2.0	3.3
95% confidence band	1.3-1.4	3.7-4.1	3.0-3.6	2.6-3.1	2.6-3.1	1.6-2.2	3.0-3.6
CV (%)	69.3	46.3	54.4	59.4	67.2	67.3	43.0

TABLE 2 Basic statistics and robust parameter estimates (Winsorized means and coefficients of variation) of maize grain yield (t ha⁻¹) from various soil fertility management inputs.

[#] Total number of pairs of means (treatment and control) from all published studies.

Most studies reported means from more than one season and site, and more than one treatment with the same control.

Source: Sileshi et al. (2010).



Despite the genetic potential of maize to yield up to 10 t ha⁻¹, actual yields did not exceed 8 t ha⁻¹ in the majority of cases. The probability of exceeding 8 t ha⁻¹ was <3% with the recommended rate of fertiliser, while in 75% of the cases yields were <5 t ha⁻¹ with all inputs. Inorganic fertiliser increased yield and reduced the coefficient of variation relative to both the unfertilised control and organic nitrogen treatments. Yield gains were however lower and more variable on farmers' fields than in research stations. These differences may be caused by factors that are generally not transferable, such as environmental conditions and management practices on research stations where stricter attention is paid to sowing dates, spacing, weeding, fertiliser doses and pest control than in farmers' fields.

Refined statistical analyses also suggested variation in yield gaps with elevation, mean annual precipitation and soil type, including clay content. Although yields with the recommended rate of inorganic fertiliser were generally higher on Nitosols than other soil types, yield gains over the control were the lowest (Figure 16). The lower gain on Nitosols could be explained by the 'saturated soil fertility' effect. Variability in yield gaps (indicated by the 95% confidence bands) was highest on Acrisols and Nitosols and lowest on Lixisols. The high variability on Acrisols could be attributed to their sensitivity to degradation (Stocking, 2003). Overall, the analyses indicated that organic inputs from the legumes may have large impacts on more sensitive and less resilient soils.

Variation in yield gaps with elevation, mean annual precipitation and the clay content of the soil were also significant in some cases. For example, for maize grown with inorganic fertiliser, the partial predictions of yield gap had a strong quadratic relationship with elevation and soil clay content. The 95% confidence bands also indicated negative values on sites with elevations below 600 m or above 1300 m, and soil clay content below 20% or above 40%. The 95% confidence bands also widened, indicating increasing risks of using inorganic fertiliser outside this range. Similarly, soil clay content significantly influenced yield gaps in the treatments that receive organic nitrogen from sunhemp, sesbania and tephrosia.

FIGURE 17

Comparison of average, minimum and maximum yield of peanuts measured in experimental stations and in whole-districts of India. The lines are y = x.



Yield gaps also varied with overall site productivity indicated by the control yield. Yield gains with inorganic fertiliser were as high as 8 t ha⁻¹ where the control achieved <2 t ha⁻¹, while they remained below 4 t ha⁻¹ where the control achieved more than 2 t ha⁻¹.

4.1.3. Grain legumes in India

Bathia et al. (2006) analysed regional-level yield gaps of soybean, peanut, chickpea and pigeonpea in India. They compared actual yield in experimental stations, best farms, and whole-districts. An interesting aspect of this work is that mean, maximum and minimum yields were derived for each yield category and used for yield gap calculations (Figure 17). The information from each of these measures of yield gap is different, and the distinction is particularly important when identifying the putative causes of the gaps. Nutrient supply for example is a much more likely cause of gaps in maximum yield, i.e. the yield achieved in more favourable (wetter) seasons than in causing gaps when yield is small. Efforts to identify specific yield gaps in extreme seasons are important for risk management, and to allow for the capture of the benefits of better seasons.

4.1.4. Wheat-maize double crop in the Hebei plain of China

Most benchmarking studies focus on single crops. Liang *et al.* (2011) is one of few exam-

ples targeting double crops. The study was based on a survey of 362 farms in six counties of the Hebei Plain, where wheat-maize double crop is the most important component of the system. Survey data from a single season were used to calculate maximum, average and minimum yield. These yields were compared with (a) modelled yield, and (b) experimental yield in growers' fields during the same season; trials were designed and managed by researchers using recommended practices seeking high yield. The authors of the study defined modelled yield as the "climate-driven potential", which corresponds to the definitions of Yp or Yw depending on water supply (Section 2.2).

Best farmer yield of wheat, maize and aggregated wheat-maize was close to the experimental yield, and about 78–89% of potential yield estimated with models (Figure 18), suggesting that there is no residual exploitable gap for the best farmers. The gap between average and best yield was around 30% for both individual crops and whole-system. Based on interviews and field observations, Liang *et al.* (2011) identified agronomic and socio-economic issues underlying yield gaps. For example, lack of access to shared irrigation facilities precludes the adoption of wheat irrigation at stem elongation, as recommended.

4.2. APPROACH 2: BOUNDARY FUNCTIONS ACCOUNTING FOR RESOURCES AND CONSTRAINTS

Crop yield is a function of capture and efficiency in the use of resources, and non-resource constraints modulating crop development, morphology, and physiology (Figure 19). To account for both resources and non-resource environmental factors, methods have been developed that are based on the notion of boundary functions (Box 3). Boundary functions have been used to benchmark yield in relation to resources, mostly water (Section 4.2.1) and nitrogen (Section 4.2.2), and soil constraints (Section 4.2.3).

4.2.1. Yield and water productivity gaps

This approach was pioneered by French and Schultz (1984a, 1984b) for rainfed wheat in Australia and has been more recently applied to a range of rainfed and irrigated cropping systems worldwide. The method can be applied to water use during the whole season, or limited to crop-specific critical periods.

4.2.1.1. Wheat in rainfed systems

French and Schultz (1984a, 1984b) benchmarked wheat yield in south-eastern Australia, and identified management and environmental causes of the gap between actual and attainable yield. Here we outline the concept and update the benchmarking of wheat in dryland systems.

FIGURE 18

Yield gap analysis of wheat-maize double cropping and its components in the Hebei plain of China. Yields are potential, calculated with models; experimental, measured in researcherdesigned trials in growers' fields, and maximum, average and minimum yield from surveys.



These authors plotted grain yield against evapotranspiration (ET) of wheat crops, estimated as soil water at sowing plus in-season rainfall, in diverse locations and seasons, and fitted a boundary line with biophysically relevant parameters (Figure 20a):

$$Yw = TE_Y * (ET-E)$$

Where Yw is water-limited yield, the slope TEY can be interpreted as the maximum transpiration efficiency for the production of grain, and the x-intercept E can be interpreted as non-productive water loss, primarily soil evaporation. The characteristic slope in the original study was 20 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹, and was supported by physiological considerations. The authors recognised the x-intercept was dependent on environmental conditions, chiefly rainfall and soil, and suggested a range between 30 and 170 mm for crops in eastern Australia. For instance, 30 mm would be more typical of northern regions where water supply involves a large proportion of stored soil moisture and relatively few, normally large rainfall events during the season. In southern

BOX 3 BOUNDARY FUNCTIONS

Yield gaps result because one or more factors (for example water and nutrient availability) limit crop yield. This limiting effect in biophysical systems can sometimes be estimated using boundary functions, first proposed by Webb (1972). While evaluating fruit size in strawberry, he discovered that berry weight, when plotted against achene number, always lay below or near a linearly increasing boundary. He proposed that the boundary represented the limiting effect of achene number on strawberry weight, and that the measurements lying below the boundary were limited by other factors, for example water deficit. Since that time the boundary line has become a popular model for limiting responses in biological data, including several examples on crop yield (Casanova *et al.* 1999; French and Shultz 1984).

Most methods for fitting boundary lines have been somewhat *ad-hoc*. In some cases a line is simply drawn by eye. Other methods rely on using an arbitrarily chosen threshold to select a subset of the data to which the boundary line is fitted using the least squares method (Webb, 1972). In some cases, the parameters of the boundary function are derived from physiological or agronomic principles (Section 4.2.1.1).

These methods have been subject to criticism because they lack an underlying statistical model. A second criticism is that boundary lines are often used inappropriately. For example in cases where the boundary line model does not make biological sense (i.e. when we would not expect the independent variable to limit the dependent variable) or where there are simply insufficient data in the neighbourhood of the boundary to estimate its location (i.e. when there are too few data or when other more limiting factors are prevalent). Milne *et al.* (2006a, 2006b) addressed these issues by proposing (i) an objective method of fitting boundaries, and (ii) methods for assessing whether the models are appropriate for given sets of data.

The method of Milne et al. (2006a) assumes that the data follow a censored bivariate normal distribution, where the boundary line defines the censor. Maximum likelihood is used to estimate the distribution parameters. Unlike many other methods of fitting a boundary line all of the data points are used, not just an arbitrarily selected subset. The parameters for the censored distribution comprise those which describe the bivariate normal part of the model, the parameters of the boundary line (e.g. for a straight line boundary y = ax + b these are a and b); and a parameter which describes the variation around the boundary (σ_B). The latter is attributed to measurement error, and so $\sigma_{\rm B}$, provides an indication of how certain we are of the position of the boundary line. Confidence intervals for the parameter estimates are calculated from the Fisher information matrix (Milne et al. 2006a). The equation of the boundary line (e.g. straight line, parabola etc) is defined in the statistical model prior to fitting the parameters. Visual inspection of the data and knowledge of the biological system help decide which form of boundary line should be used. To assess the suitability of the boundary line model (i.e. the censored distribution) to describe the data, the analyst can compare its performance with a bivariate normal distribution (Milne et al. 2006a). The latter model is the null hypothesis against which the evidence for the boundary is assessed. The model with the censor has more parameters than the one without. Typically goodness of fit improves with increasing number of parameters. To account for this association, we compare the models using Akaike's information criterion (AIC) (1973) which measures performance based on a compromise between parsimony and goodness of fit.

The AIC is given by

AIC= $-2\ln M + 2p$

where M is the maximum likelihood value and p is the number of parameters in the model. The smaller the AIC value the more appropriate the model.

Figure Box 3-1 shows an example of a boundary line model fitted to data relating evapotranspiration and yield of wheat crops in dry environments worldwide. With no previous assumptions, except for the linearity of the model, and using the whole data set, Milne *et al.* (2006a) method returned a slope = 24.6 kg ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹, with 95 percent confidence interval (-3.412, -1.504). This compares with the 22 kg ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹ rate based on a combination of empirical line fitting informed by physiological principles (Section 4.2.1.1).

FIGURE BOX 3-1.

Example of linear boundary function fitted with the method of Milne *et al.*(2006a, 2006b). Data are actual wheat yield vs estimated evapotranspiration in China, the Mediterranean region of Europe, North America and Australia compiled by Sadras and Angus (2006). A boundary line of the form y y=ax+b was assumed. The estimated parameter values were a=0.025 with 95 percent confidence interval (0.020, 0.030) and b=-2.458 with 95 percent confidence interval (-3.412, -1.504). The variation around the boundary, $\sigma_B=0.971$, with confidence interval (0.791, 1.151). According to the AIC the boundary line model describes this data better than a bivariate normal model.



regions where initial soil water is generally low, and crops rely on winter rainfall, the combination of small rainfall events and hard setting soils with poor infiltration, surface ponding and run-off could lead to x-intercepts about 170 mm.

As with any empirical model, the parameters need local calibration, and extrapolation beyond the range of tested applicability should be avoided. For example, the slope representing attainable yield per unit transpiration is expected to be larger

FIGURE 19

Crop growth and yield depend on the capture and efficiency in the use of resources (CO_2 , radiation, water and nutrients) and environmental factors modulating the development, morphology and physiology of the crop.



FIGURE 20

(a) The original model of French and Schultz (1984) assumed a boundary function with slope = 20 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹ and x-intercept = 110 mm (solid line) for a particular set of crops comprising South Australian environments and cultivars and management of the 1960-70s (circles). (b) The original concept, with an updated slope = 22 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹ and x-intercept = 60 mm, applied to a large (n=691) data set of crops in four dry environments of the world.



under conditions that favour high biomass per unit transpiration and high harvest index, namely low vapour pressure deficit, high proportion of diffuse radiation, high radiation-to-temperature ratio, high atmospheric concentration of CO₂, and a high proportion of water available around and after flowering (Abbate *et al* 2004; Rodriguez and Sadras 2007; Sadras and Rodriguez 2007).

The main environmental sources of variation in the x-intercept are soil characteristics (French and Schultz 1984a,b; Ritchie 1972) and the seasonality and size structure of rainfall, i.e. the x-intercept is smaller for crops grown with high stored water/seasonal rain ratio, and with dominance of large rainfall events during the growing season (Sadras and Rodriguez 2007a). Other factors that affect seasonal soil evaporation, chiefly by changing the partitioning of radiant energy between canopy and soil, include tillage and stubble management, row-spacing and sowing density, the rate of canopy expansion early in the season and the rate of senescence as affected by cultivar and management (Cooper et al.1987; Monzon et al. 2006; Richards 2006).

Four elements reinforce the notion that the model of French and Schultz is robust and agronomically relevant to benchmark yield of rainfed wheat. First, a line with slope = 22 kg grain ha^{-1} mm⁻¹ and x-intercept = 60 mm provided a reasonable upper boundary for a large number of crops from diverse regions of the world (Figure 20b). Second, the simpler boundary function of French and Schultz generally agrees with boundary functions generated with more complex simulation models involving dozens of parameters and daily

input of weather variables (O'Leary and Connor 1996; Angus and van Herwaarden 2001; Asseng *et al.* 2001; Sadras and Rodriguez 2007; Hochman *et al.* 2009). In fact, the French and Schultz model is often considered a back-of-the-envelope check for more refined models. Third, a close alignment between actual yield-to-transpiration ratios corresponding to 150 years of wheat breeding in Australia, and the original (20 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹) and current (24 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹) estimates of the model's slope reinforce our confidence in both the value and interpretation of this parameter (Sadras and Lawson 2013a). Fourth, the method of Milne *et al.* (2006a; 2006b) applied to the data set in Figure 20b returned parameters that, without *a priori* assumptions, is consistent with the parameters in the model of French and Schultz (Box 3).

In summary, the approach of French and Schulz is solid, despite the lack of consideration of seasonal dynamics of rainfall and water use. This method is attractive for its simplicity, and results in estimates that are not necessarily worse than those derived from more complex, daily-time step crop models, provided the parameters are adjusted to local conditions. Of the two parameters, the slope can be considered robust and taken as crop-specific constant in a first approach, whereas care should be taken to derive sensible values for the x-intercept. The approach of French and Schultz

has been limited to Australia until recently, but tests in other regions of the world and crops suggest a broader generality (Sections 4.2.1.2 to 4.2.1.4). This approach is useful to benchmark attainable yield against water use, with relatively low demand of inputs, namely estimates of initial and final soil content and in-season rainfall to estimate evapotranspiration, and measured yield. French and Shultz-type boundary functions can also be derived using models like CropSyst, CERES or APSIM, or a combination of actual data and modelling, e.g. actual yield and modelled evapotranspiration.

4.2.1.2. Millet in low-input systems of Africa

Sadras et al. (2012) compiled millet grain yield and water-use data from published sources, mostly from the West African Sahel generally associated with ICRISAT. Data from Egypt, a more favourable African environment, and the United States, to represent higher-input cropping systems, were included in the analysis for comparison. For a collection of 58 crops in the Sahel, millet yield per unit water use averaged 3 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹ (Figure 21a). Yield per unit transpiration of millet is the lowest among C4 crops and is primarily associated with low harvest

FIGURE 21

(a) Frequency distribution of millet yield per unit seasonal evapotranspiration in Western Sahel and (b) relationship between grain yield and evapotranspiration for crops in Western Sahel; data from Egypt and USA are included for comparison. The solid line has a slope = 16.7 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹ and an x-intercept = 158 mm, both derived from Rockström *et al.* (1998).



index. However, millet's low harvest index needs to be considered in the context of a trade-off between grain production and valuable crop residues. For example, some popular landrace millet varieties in India are over 3-m tall, and are valued for the large amount of fodder they provide, even though grain yields are relatively low.

A boundary function with a slope of 16.7 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹ captured the upper limit of water productivity for millet crops (Figure 21b). This boundary function applied to the stressful Sahel conditions, and to the more favourable environments of Egypt and North America. Most millet crops in the Sahel were well below this boundary function. Environmental, management and plant-related factors contributed to the low water productivity of millet in the Sahel. Low soil fertility and sparsely sown crops mean ground cover is typically low, i.e. peak leaf area indices are normally below 1, or below 2 in more intensive systems. This in turn favours unproductive soil evaporation. Sandy soils, which are prone to crusting, favour episodic runoff and deep drainage. Indeed, a series of experimental and modelling studies converge to conclude that production in these environments is less limited by water than by soil fertility, agronomy and inputs, as there is often residual water in the soil at maturity, large unproductive losses of water are common, and nutrient stress is often more severe than water stress (Sadras *et al.* 2012).

4.2.1.3. Sunflower in rainfed systems of Argentina

Grassini *et al.* (2009a) explored the relationship between sunflower grain yield and seasonal water supply using a 4-year database of commercial crops in the Western Pampas (n = 169; paddock size between 21 and 130 ha). Only crops grown on deep soils with no obvious physical or chemical constraints to rooting were included. Data collected from small-plot (56 m²) fertilization studies were also included in the analysis (n = 231). Water productivity for each field-year was calculated as the quotient between grain yield and seasonal water supply, where water supply is initial soil water plus seasonal rainfall.

The boundary function that delimits the maximum yield over the range of water supply had a slope of 9.0 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹ and an x-intercept of 75 mm (Figure 22a). Salient features of this figure are: (i) many crops had water supplies greater than the maximum expected cumulative evapotranspiration (630 mm) for the region, (ii) yield varied widely

FIGURE 22

(a) Relationship between sunflower grain yield and seasonal water supply in farmers' fields (open symbols; n = 169) and small-plot fertilizer trials (closed symbols; n = 231) in the Western Pampas. Water supply is available soil water at sowing plus sowing-to-maturity rainfall. (b) Relationship between yield and evapotranspiration for sunflower crops in Australia, Lebanon, Spain, Turkey, and United States.



for a given water availability, (iii) on average, farmers' yields were 50 percent below the boundary function, and (iv) maximum on-farm grain yields (4.9 t ha⁻¹) approached those reported for modern hybrids under potential conditions. Average on-farm yield per unit water supply ranged from 1.1 to 8.0 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹. The boundary function defined for the Western Pampas provided a reasonable upper limit for rainfed and irrigated sunflower crops grown in other semi-arid environments in the Mediterranean Basin (Lebanon, Spain, Turkey), the Great Plains of North America and Australia (Figure 22b). Although crops were grown under good management practices, most of the data points were below the boundary function. The gaps were associated with high soil evaporation, high evaporative demand of the atmosphere, and untimely rainfall during the growing cycle in relation to critical crop stages. Splitting crops in three categories depending on the range of water supply allowed for more refined identification of agronomic and environmental factors underlying the yield gaps (Grassini *et al.* 2009a).

4.2.1.4. Maize in irrigated systems of USA

Grassini et al. (2009b) compiled data on maize grain yield, applied irrigation, irrigation system and nitrogen fertiliser rate during three years from commercial irrigated fields inside the Tri-Basin Natural Resources Districts of Nebraska, USA (n = 777; paddock mean size: 46 ha). Seasonal water supply was calculated as available soil water at sowing + sowing-to-maturity rainfall + applied irrigation. Modelled yield and water supply in 18 locations across the Western U.S. Corn Belt were used to derive (i) a boundary function (slope = 27.7 kg grain ha^{-1} mm⁻¹, x-intercept = 100 mm) and (ii) a mean function (slope = 19.3 kg grain ha^{-1} mm⁻¹, x-intercept = 100 mm). The boundary function defines the maximum vield over the range of water supply, and the mean function accounts for the variability in attainable yield at a given water supply caused by year-to-year variation in solar radiation, temperature, vapour pressure deficit, and seasonal distribution of water supply. When compared to reported data on grain yield and water supply from maize crops in the Western US Corn Belt under good management, both the boundary and mean functions proved to be robust benchmarks (Figure 23a). On average, farmers' yields were 20 percent below the mean benchmark function although ≈ 4 percent of the cases approached or even exceeded this benchmark (Figure 23b). Grain vield was not responsive to water supply over 900 mm; an important fraction of the total fields (55 percent) exceeded the apparent 900 mm threshold required to maximize yield. The apparent water excess

FIGURE 23

a) Relationship between grain yield and seasonal water supply (available soil water at sowing plus sowing-to-maturity rainfall and applied irrigation) for maize crops grown under near-optimal management in the Western US Corn Belt. The database included a wide range of environments and irrigation schedules; none of the fields had obvious nutrient limitations, diseases, insect damage, weeds, or hail. (b) Farmers' irrigated yields in the Tri-Basin NRD as a function of seasonal water supply (+). Tri-Basin county-level average rainfed yields are also shown for comparison (•).



was weakly related to available soil water at sowing and sowing-to-maturity rainfall but strongly related to applied irrigation. Water productivity of irrigated crops ranged from 8.2 to 19.4 kg mm⁻¹ ha⁻¹ across field-years. Average water productivity was higher in irrigated than in rainfed crops (14.0 vs 8.8 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹).

Fields under centre pivot irrigation had higher water productivity (\approx 13 percent) than their counterparts under gravity irrigation. Yield per unit irrigation averaged 44, 62, and 77 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹ under pivot and 28, 36, and 42 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹ under gravity in 2005, 2006, and 2007, respectively. When these values were corrected by the average rainfed yield on each year (5.1, 5.2, and 7.5 tonnes ha⁻¹), the resulting water productivity became relatively stable across years: 27, 37, and 32 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹ under pivot and 18, 21, and 18 kg grain ha⁻¹ mm⁻¹ under gravity in 2005, 2006, and 2007, respectively. High Δ Y per unit irrigation reflects not only the response to increasing water supply, but also differences in the agronomic management between irrigated and rainfed crops (e.g. plant population, nutrient inputs). Consequently, rainfed crops had lower attainable yield and water productivity than irrigated crops (Figure 23b).

4.2.1.5. Yield vs water availability in a critical period of yield determination

Calviño and Sadras (1999) benchmarked soybean yield in the Pampas of Argentina, in a period of fast change and adoption of technology including the first generation of transgenic (herbicide tolerant) varieties. Their aim was to produce a reference to measure the impact of changing technology, including new varieties and management practices, and to identify causes of gaps between actual and attainable yield. They gathered yield and rainfall data from 30–35 crops per year in farmers' fields during four years. The period was long enough to span an important range of rainfall, and short enough to meet the assumption of constant technology. To reinforce this assumption, additional criteria were used to narrow the range of crops in the sample, e.g. fixed row spacing, narrow sowing date window, narrow range of maturity groups. Using the 3-highest yielding crops each season as a measure of water-limited yield, they fitted the boundary model (Figure 24):

 $Yw = a + b (1 - e^{-c W})$

where a, b and c are empirical parameters, and W is rainfall in February plus a carryover of January rainfall; a estimates yield when W = 0, and a + b is the maximum



attainable yield. Similar to the model of French and Schulz, this model establishes a boundary function in relation to water availability. In contrast to the model of French and Schulz, the parameters of this model cannot be explained in terms of biophysical processes except for the estimate of attainable yield. Also unlike the model of French and Schulz, this model captures the physiological principle of a most critical period for yield determination (Andrade *et al.* 2005), i.e. instead of using seasonal water use, it constrains the driving variable to the typical window of pod and grain set in February.

A similar approach was used by Calviño et al. (2003) to benchmark maize yield in the Pampas. They collected yield data from 216 commercial crops in Tandil (37 oS, 59 oW) from three-year time series to meet the criterion of constant technology, reinforced with specific criteria to

FIGURE 25

Attainable yield of maize as a function of rainfall in the critical period of grain yield determination for deep Typic Argiudolls and shallow Petrocalcic paleudolls (0.5-0.7m). The critical period is 20 d before to 30 d after anthesis. Double-headed arrows indicate yield gap due to soil.



narrow the range of agronomic practices. A boundary function was fit that related the yield of the 15% highest yielding crops and rainfall from 30 d before to 20 d after flowering, the critical period for grain yield determination in maize. The boundary function was tested against independent data, and was used to estimate the yield gap associated with shallow soils (Figure 25). The double-headed arrows in Figure 25 highlight that the yield gap between shallow and deep soils is smaller under both low and high rainfall conditions, when the storage capacity of soil is less relevant; the largest gap is at intermediate rainfalls when storage capacity of soil water buffers dry spells between rainfall events.

4.2.2. Yield gaps and nitrogen uptake

Benchmarks based on capture of nitrogen are agronomically, economically and environmentally relevant in a context of increasing energy and fertiliser price and concerns with nitrogen leaching and greenhouse emissions.

Savin *et al.* (2006) used the relationship between actual wheat yield and nitrogen uptake to investigate putative differences in nitrogen use efficiency between Mediterranean and non-Mediterranean environments (Figure 26). Boundary functions revealed a lower efficiency in Mediterranean environments hypothetically associated with hotter conditions during grain filling. The curves in Figure 26 are empirical, and similar to the approach based on water use (Section 4.2.1.1 to 4.2.1.4), they account for the seasonal capture of a major crop resource. A significant part of the gap between actual and attainable yield is accounted for grain nitrogen concentration (Savin *et al.* 2006; Ciampitti & Vyn 2012), which constrains the application of this approach to benchmarking.

Hochman *et al.* (2013) use a nitrogen-based benchmark to estimate yield gaps in rainfed wheat crops in Australia. They compiled a data set of yield and nitrogen use, calculated as the sum of crop nitrogen uptake and nitrogen lost to the root zone, and derived a normalised boundary function based on a representative nitrogen response



curve (Figure 27). The normalisation estimates the shortfall in nitrogen input of the actual crop relative to the input required to reach yield potential. The analysis indicated 64% of crops attained actual yields that was within 80% of the expected yield as simulated using the actual input of nitrogen for each crop.

Ciampitti and Vyn (2012) fitted boundary functions to characterise the relationship between yield and nitrogen uptake of maize in a comparison of old (1940 to 1990) and new (1991 to 2011) technologies using a comprehensive, worldwide database. The boundary functions were fitted with linear + plateau models with three parameters. All three parameters differed with technology: the rate of change in yield with increasing nitrogen uptake increased from 74 kg grain per kg N with old technology to 93 kg grain per kg N with new technology, the nitrogen required to maximise

FIGURE 27

Normalised relationship between yield and nitrogen input for 334 wheat crops in Australia. The solid line is a nitrogen-response curve representing the upper limit of the relationship.



yield was reduced from 181 kg N per ha to 168 kg N per ha, and maximum yield increased 13 to 16 t ha⁻¹. These boundary functions could be used for yield gap analysis, although this was not the original aim of this study, and shifts in parameters highlight the importance of proper definitions of technological background.

4.2.3. Yield gaps and soil constraints

Casanova *et al.* (2002) measured yield gaps of irrigated rice in the Ebro Delta of Spain using a soil-focused approach. They measured yield (y) and soil texture and chemical properties (x_i) in 50 fields. A boundary line was defined for each x_i variable according to the following steps: (a) each x_i was categorised in 10 groups, (b) frequency distributions of yield for each x_i were tested for normality, (c) for groups passing the normality test the average x_i and yield at 95% confidence are selected, and (d) a linear regression is fitted using selected x_i and yield. This approach generated boundary lines with positive slope for resource-type variables, such as cation exchange capacity, and with negative slopes for constraint-type variables such as salinity. Yield was estimated as:

 $y = Min [f (x_1), f (x_2)...f (x_n)]$

where f (x_i) is the maximum yield for independent variable x_i . This approach identified three main variables, namely topsoil cation exchange capacity, soil salinity and pH which collectively accounted for a yield gap of 2.9 t ha⁻¹ relative to attainable yield in the region around 11 t ha⁻¹. A residual gap of 0.8 t ha⁻¹ corresponded to other, unidentified factors. A variation of this method opened up the "black box" of yield into numerical yield components (panicles per m², spikelets per panicle, fraction of filled panicles and individual grain mass) and accounted for crop status variables, i.e. crop establishment, duration and nutrient status. This approach is particularly interesting for local studies of soil constraints.

4.2.4. Water productivity as a function of yield

Water productivity increases non-linearly with grain yield, as shown for example in rainfed and irrigated wheat crops in the USA (Musick *et al.* 1994). The analysis in Figure 28 for maize in Doukkala Irrigation Scheme of Morocco illustrates how boundary functions could be used to capture the upper limit of water productivity, identify underperforming fields and calculating water productivity gaps; this approach has not

FIGURE 28

Relationship between water productivity (yield per unit evapotranspiration) and yield of maize in the Doukkala Irrigation Scheme, Morocco. The red line is the boundary function fitted by calculating the 90th percentile of water productivity for yield split in 1000 kg/ha intervals. Both yield and water productivity were derived with methods combining remote sensing and modelling.



been documented, but we suggest it could be useful for gap analysis where the focus is water productivity.

4.3. APPROACH 3: MODELLING

Approach 1 and 2 underestimate maximum yield where best practice is not feasible; for example, where policy or infrastructure limitations prevent the use of inputs such as fertiliser. In this section we compile a series of case studies including a comparison of yield benchmarking and gap analysis using on-farm yields (Approach 1) and modelled yield (Approach 3) with Maize in USA and Kenya, and wheat in Australia. Other case studies deal with rice in Southeast Asia, maize in Zimbabwe, quinoa in Bolivia. The use of climatic indices to estimate yield potential and FAO's Agro-Ecological Zones system are outlined.

4.3.1. Maize (USA, Kenya) and wheat (Australia)

Van Ittersum *et al.* (2013) assessed the implications of using different methods based on simulated or actual yields for yield gap assessment at a local level. The following methods were evaluated for their ability to estimate potential yield or water-limited yield for irrigated and rainfed cropping systems, respectively, and their corresponding yield gaps, across farmer's fields over relatively small geographic areas:

- site-specific simulation of potential or water-limited yield using crop growth models;
- derivation of potential or water-limited yield from upper percentiles of farmer yield distributions;
- maximum yields measured in experimental stations, growers contests, or highestyielding farmer's fields.

Three cropping systems of varying level of intensification were considered for the analysis: rainfed maize in western Kenya, irrigated maize in Nebraska (USA), and rainfed wheat in Victoria (Australia). Year-specific information about yield, management, weather and soil properties were available for each farmer's field from three years for Nebraska and Victoria and one year for Kenya. Detailed descriptions of cropping systems, structure and validation of crop models, and data inputs can be found in previously published studies (Grassini *et al.* 2011; Tittonell *et al.* 2006; Hochman *et al.* 2009).

Owing to the capacity to capture major interactions among weather, soils and management, crop modelling appeared to be the most reliable way to estimate potential yield and water-limited yield for each specific crop within the defined cropping system. The attributes for a model to be useful in this type of study have been discussed in Section 3.3. Models allowed for probability distributions rather than single values of potential and water-limited yield and yield gap (Figure 29). Variability in simulated potential and water limited yield reflected not only differences in management practices among fields, but also variability in weather across years and fields. Under such conditions, farm managers face large uncertainty about yield-affecting conditions, and hence appropriate level of inputs in the season ahead (Box 2). If inputs are applied in excess of amounts needed for maximum profit in a year when potential or water limited yield is below average, closing a small yield gap will likely not meet their economic goals. On the other hand, if farmers invest too little inputs in a year with high potential or waterlimited yield, the yield gap will be large and they will miss the possibility of high profit. This was the case for rainfed maize and wheat cropping system in Kenya and Australia, although there are differences between these systems (Figure 29). While Australian farmers face greater uncertainty about water limited yield, they are also much better equipped to cope with this uncertainty, due to better access to information and inputs, than Kenyan farmers who often also face labour constraints because of manual ploughing. As a result, yield gaps were much smaller in rainfed wheat in Australia compared to rainfed maize in Kenya (yield gap-to-actual yield ratio of 0.4 and 2.2, respectively) (Figure 29). In the case of irrigated maize in Nebraska, access to irrigation water compensates for weather variability and associated risk, allowing growers to fine tune their management and achieve small gaps (yield gap-to-actual yield ratio of 0.1) (Figure 29).

Estimates of yield potential, water limited yield and yield gap based on maximum yields or an upper yield percentile are static or non-spatially explicit, unless they are linked with some environmental variable. A single estimate of potential or water limited yield

FIGURE 29

Simulated potential yield (Yp) or water-limited yield (Yw) based on site-specific weather, soil properties, and management data collected from farmer's fields in three cropping systems: rainfed maize in west Kenya, irrigated maize in Nebraska (USA), and rainfed wheat in Victoria (Australia) (*n* = 54, 123, and 129 field-year cases, respectively). Each bar corresponds to an individual field-year case. The yellow and red portions of the bars indicate actual farmer's yield (Ya) and yield gap (Yg), respectively. Horizontal lines indicate average Yp (or Yw) and Ya (solid and dashed lines, respectively) for the region. Means and coefficients of variations (CV) for Yp (or Yw) and Yg are shown. Fields were sorted from highest to lowest Yp or Yw. Note that Ya>Yw for some site-years in Victoria which reflects incorrect specification of model inputs, actual yields, and/or inability of crop models to portray specific genotype x environment x management interactions.



used as a reference in gap analysis does not reflect the full range of conditions within an agro-ecological zone and cropping system. The yield achieved by a contest winner or in the highest-yielding fields in any region or season was unattainable by most other farmers who did not benefit from the same climatic or soil conditions. Likewise, measured yields in experimental stations can also be biased if soil and topography (i.e. deep, fertile soils on flat land or on well terraced slopes) do not represent the surrounding production systems. Hence, maximum yields and upper yield percentiles provide an estimate of the best G x E interaction across a large population of site-years, rather than a measure of long-term average potential or water limited yield. Although all these empirical methods are convenient when data are lacking to calibrate and validate a crop model and to run it for a range of fields and years, they gave inconsistent estimates of potential and water limited yield compared to those obtained from crop simulation. In the case where actual yield was high, which indicates favourable growing conditions and little stress (i.e. irrigated maize in Nebraska), there was relatively close agreement among yield potential, water limited yield and yield gap estimates based on maximum yields or upper percentiles and estimates based on crop simulation (Table 3). In contrast, there was very poor agreement among these estimates in cases where farmers did not (or could not) use best management practices and thus achieved low yields (i.e., Kenya rainfed maize). Likewise, estimates of potential and water limited yield based on maximum yield or upper percentiles can be biased by atypical years or farms amongst the observations, but this cannot be defined without more detailed analysis using simulation models. This problem played a role in the dataset for rainfed wheat in Victoria in which the average maximum yield and the average 95 and 99 percentiles

TABLE 3

Actual average farmer yield (Ya) and estimates of average potential yield (Yp) or water-limited yield (Yw), yield gaps (Yg), and Yg-to-Ya ratio (Yg:Ya) for three cropping systems based on four different methods: crop simulation models, upper percentiles of farmer Ya, and maximum yields. Values are means for one single year (rainfed maize in western Kenya) or 3 years for irrigated maize in Nebraska and rainfed wheat in Victoria.

Yield (t ha ⁻¹)	Rainfed maize, western Kenya	Irrigated maize, Nebraska, USA	Rainfed wheat, Victoria, Australia
Actual yield (Ya)	1.7	13.2	1.9
Yp or Yw based on:	Yw	Үр	Yw
Simulation model	5.4	14.9	2.6
Upper percentiles Ya:			
95 th percentile	3.6	14.4	3.5
99 th percentile	3.9	14.8	4.1
Maximum Ya ^a	6.0	17.6	4.3
Yg based on:			
Simulation model ^b	3.7 (Yg:Ya = 2.2)	1.6 (Yg:Ya = 0.1)	0.8 (Yg:Ya = 0.4)
Upper percentiles Ya:			
95 th percentile	1.9 (Yg:Ya = 1.1)	1.1 (Yg:Ya = 0.1)	1.9 (Yg:Ya = 1.0)
99 th percentile	2.2 (Yg:Ya = 1.3)	1.6 (Yg:Ya = 0.1)	2.2 (Yg:Ya = 1.2)
Maximum Ya	4.3 (Yg:Ya = 2.5)	4.5 (Yg:Ya = 0.3)	2.3 (Yg:Ya = 1.2)

^a Maximum yields were derived from measured yields at: nearby experimental stations (rainfed maize in western Kenya), National Corn Growers Association (NCGA) contest-winning irrigated fields in Nebraska (irrigated maize in Nebraska), and highest-yielding farmer fields (rainfed wheat in Victoria).

^b For Australia, when Ya>Yw, Yg=0 was assumed.

Source: van Ittersum et al. (2013).

of farmers yields across three years was well above the average simulated water-limited yield over the same period (Table 3). If the maximum yield and 95 and 99 percentiles of farmers yields had been taken from the entire population of field-years, aggregated across years, the difference between simulated Yw and the 95 and 99 percentiles would be substantially higher as the best year would have been used as the benchmark.

4.3.2. Rice in Southeast Asia

Laborte *et al.* (2012) analysed farmers' yields and yield gaps in the wet and dry seasons in four intensively cropped rice areas in Southeast Asia: Central Luzon, Philippines; West Java, Indonesia; Suphan Buri, Thailand; and Can Tho, Vietnam. Yield gaps were estimated based on potential yield derived from the crop growth model ORYZA2000 applying crop development rates calculated from observed phenological stages, actual crop establishment methods and actual average planting dates of farmers (Bouman 2011).

Exploitable yield gaps (Section 2.2) were estimated based on economic (80% of potential yield) and best farmers' yields (upper 10 percentile in each year, season, and site). They found yield differences of 2.6–5.4 t ha⁻¹ between average and potential yields, 1.0-3.6 t ha⁻¹ between average and economic yields, and 1.1-2.3 t ha⁻¹ between average and best farmers' yields. The gap between average and best yields was higher in riceimporting countries (Indonesia and Philippines) compared with rice-exporting countries (Thailand and Vietnam).

Many yield gap studies consider a single year or period (Section 3.2.1). In addition to looking at yields and yield gaps across sites, this study evaluated yield differences across time using four decades of farm survey data (1966 to 2008) for Central Luzon, Philippines. They used quantile regression to estimate annual increments in yields that correspond to various percentage points of the distributions of farmers' yields. From 1966 to 1979, annual increases in rice yields for farmers in the upper quantiles were much higher than those in the lower quantiles as yield increased with adoption of higher-yielding modern rice varieties by some farmers. On the other hand, there was no significant change in yields for the lowest 10 percentile despite more than a decade since the introduction of modern rice varieties. Owing to the differential rate of adoption of new technology between leading and average farmers during this period, the gap between average and best yields increased with time (Figure 11). From 1982 onwards, the lower 30 percentile had slightly higher annual increments than others, as farmers with low yields started to adopt modern rice varieties. However, the mean gap between average and best yields for surveys conducted during the 2000s did not differ much from that of the 1980s.

Closing the yield gap in farmers' fields in Southeast Asia remains a challenge. Best farmers' yields were already near to, or in some cases, even higher than their estimate of economic yield. This implies that it will not be economically attractive for bestyielding farmers to further increase yields, unless there is a change in the prices of rice and/or production inputs to warrant more investment. On the other hand, the gap between average and best yields could still be reduced, especially in the rice importing countries, where the gap is larger. This study gave indications of some causal factors by comparing some characteristics of and production inputs used by average and best yielding farmers. To bridge the gap, production inputs such as fertiliser and labour should be used more efficiently and intensive knowledge delivery and programs that enhance farmers' skills as well as institutional arrangements are vital.

4.3.3. Maize in Zimbabwe

Kahindae el al. (2007) used a simulation model (APSIM) to investigate alternative cropping practices to close the yield gap of maize in semi-arid Zimbabwe. They estimated two extreme yields, i.e. maximum with good supply of water or nitrogen, and a rainfed control closer to standard practices with no fertiliser and no supplemental irrigation. Within the boundaries of these extreme yields, a range of feasible options were modelled, e.g. modest amounts of inorganic nitrogen or manure in combination with locally developed rain water harvesting techniques. This modelling exercise showed the synergy between water and nitrogen, which is consistent with theoretical and empirical considerations (Sadras 2005; Cossani *et al.* 2010).

4.3.4. Quinoa in Bolivia

Geerts *et al.* (2009) used the AquaCrop model to examine the potential of closing quinoa yield gaps using irrigation in the Bolivian Altiplano, where yields of rainfed crops are low and unstable. Simulated scenarios included a rainfed control, a reference strategy avoiding stomatal closure during all sensitive growth stages and allowing drought stress during the tolerant growth stages and various restrictive deficit irrigation strategies representing cases when water resources are limited. From the scenario analysis, probability curves were derived for three agro-climatic regions. The modelled yields of rainfed quinoa during dry years ranged from 1.1 t ha⁻¹ in the northern region to 0.2 t ha⁻¹ in the southern Altiplano and increased to 2.2-1.5 t ha⁻¹ with the best irrigation treatment, corresponding to yield gaps > 1 t ha⁻¹. Minimum water availability required to significant reductions in yield gaps were identified, in the order of 600-700 m³ per ha for the central and southern regions.

4.3.5. Estimating yield potential with climate indices

Previous Sections illustrated yield gap analysis based on simulation models accounting for environment, crop and management factors. Here we outline simpler methods to account for major climate drivers in the definition of yield potential (Section 2) and their application in benchmarking. Fischer (1985) defined a photothermal quotient (PTQ) relating solar radiation (Rad) and mean temperature (T) above a base temperature (Tb) during a time window comprising the most critical period for grain set:

PTQ = Rad / (T-Tb)

This coefficient reflects four physiological principles, namely (a) grain number is the main yield component (Sadras, 2007b), (b) grain number is proportional to total growth during a species-specific critical window around flowering (Andrade *et al.*, 2005), (c) growth rate during this critical window is proportional to photosynthesis and hence radiation, and (d) the duration of this period is inversely proportional to temperature. On these principles, Fischer's (1985) photothermal quotient and derived indices usually capture a substantial part of the variation in grain yield of diverse annual grain crops (Fischer 1985; Cantagallo *et al.* 1997). In the study of Bell and Fischer (1994) outlined in Section 3.2.2, the rate of change of wheat yield in the Yaqui Valley of Mexico calculated with the photothermal quotient was similar to the rate calculated with CERES-wheat, although estimates were offset by approx. 0.8 t. Estimates of grain number using a photothermal coefficient, and modelled (Menendez and Satorre 2007) or actual (Calviño and Sadras 2002) kernel weight were used to generate locationspecific benchmarks of wheat yield in the Pampas.

Rodriguez and Sadras (2007) used a normalised photothermal coefficient (PTQn) accounting for the effects of photosynthetically active radiation (PAR), mean tempera-

ture (T), vapour pressure deficit (VPD) and fraction of diffuse radiation (FDR) to benchmark wheat yield in eastern Australia

PTQn = PAR * FDR / VPD * T

Doherty et al. (2008) combined actual yield, modelled seasonal evapotranspiration and the coefficient PTQn to produce a shire-level benchmark of attainable wheat water



productivity (Figure 30). The rationale of this approach is that the boundary waterlimited yield, as determined with the French and Schultz model (Section 4.2.1.1), can be improved by accounting for physiologically relevant (a) critical period and (b) climatic drivers included in PTQn. This approach may be of interest to benchmark yield in future climates where warming and increased VPD are likely to have significant impact on water productivity (Potgieter *et al.* 2013).

4.3.6. FAO's Agro-Ecological Zones system

GAEZ refers to the Agro-Ecological Zones system, developed by FAO and IIASA (International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis). This tool enables land-use planning based on an inventory of land resources and their biophysical limitations and potential for crop production. The characterization of land resources accounts for climate, soils and landform, which are basic for the supply of water, energy, nutrients and physical support to crops. GAEZ models potential yield and downscales year 2000 statistics of main food and fiber crops to derive actual yield. The spatial resolution for yield gap analysis, derived from potential and actual yield, is 5 arc-minute. Further details can be found in: http://www.fao.org/nr/gaez/publications/en/

4.4. APPROACH 4: REMOTE SENSING

We emphasised the need for precision and accuracy of crop yield data for gap analysis, and highlighted some of the limitations from actual measurements, surveys, regional and national statistics and modelled yield. Indirect measurements via satellites have a potential to measure fields and regions to complement and cross check other sources of data (Box 4).

Lobell (2013) recently reviewed the application of remote sensing in yield gap analysis; thus, this Section only presents a few examples.

BOX 4 REMOTE SENSING: APPROACHES TO ESTIMATE CROP YIELD

Remote sensing is the technology of identifying, observing, and measuring an object without coming into direct contact with it. The radiometers aboard dozens of polar orbiting satellites measure the reflected, emitted and scattered radiance in small parts of the electromagnetic spectrum (visible, red-edge, near-infrared, thermal infrared, microwave, etc.). Spectral reflectance and spectral emittance measurements are combined with algorithms that convert raw data into quantitative bio-physical information at various scales, from small farm plots to large agro-holdings. The smallest scale is one pixel, and for field scale applications the pixel size often ranges from 10 m x 10 m to 30 m x 30m. The second smallest scale is a combination of a number of pixels. A group of pixels can form a soil or management unit on a farm, or can be an entire field. The frequency at which data can be measured depends on the type of satellite; combinations of different satellites are used to acquire most of these data with an interval of a few days with a resolution of 30 m x 30 m or better, provided that cloud cover is not persistent.

Approaches

Remote sensing approaches to estimate crop yield can be based on (Lobell 2013): (1) biomass production and partitioning, (2) empirical models relating spectral vegetation index and yield, and (3) integration of remotely sensed data and crop growth models.

1. Biomass production and partitioning

Biomass production can be calculated as the product between absorbed photosynthetically active radiation (APAR) and radiation use efficiency (Monteith 1977). APAR is the radiation (400 to 700 nm) absorbed by the crop and subsequently used for photosynthesis; it depends on: (i) solar radiation at the top of the atmosphere, (ii) cloud cover, (iii) atmospheric constituents that control the transmittance of radiation through the atmosphere and (iv) the size, architecture and greenness of canopies where chlorophyll captures photosynthetically active light. Cloud cover can be acquired from geostationary satellites that measure cloud brightness with small time intervals e.g. (Hammer et al. 2003). Remotely sensed vegetation indices e.g. (Asrar et al. 1992) or leaf area index (Mynemi et al. 2002) describe the extent of green leaves that intercept the photosynthetically active radiation. Hence, APAR can be derived totally from satellite measurements see also Baret and Guyot (1991). Various equations have been developed for the determination of radiation use efficiency, for example Field et al. (1995) and Hilker et al. (2008). As radiation use efficiency varies with crop stage, crop geometry and environmental and management factors, the assumption of a fixed efficiency could be an important source of error in estimating biomass and yield (Stockle and Kemanian 2009). The same conclusion applies to deterministic crop production simulation models and this is therefore a more general challenge in the modelling of crop yield.

Actual yield (*Ya*) can be computed as a function of cumulative biomass produced during the season (Σ B), harvest index (HI) and the water content of the crop at harvest (m_{oi}):

 $Ya = (\Sigma B.HI)/(1-m_{oi}) Y_{act} = \frac{\Sigma B^*HI}{1-m_{oi}}$

Reviews on harvest index have been published by Hay (1995) and Unkovich *et al.* (2010), who emphasised the variability of this trait. Various approaches have been developed for the computation of harvest index (Sadras and Connor 1991; Ferreres and Soriano 2007; Kemanian *et al.* 2007; Raes *et al.* 2010). It is common practice to locally calibrate the harvest index and water content of the harvestable crop to ensure that fresh crop yield estimation from satellite data matches local measurements. This approach was applied by Zwart and Bastiaanssen (2007) in Mexico using harvest index values published by Lobell *et al.* (2003b). This method was followed also by van Dam and Malik (2003) in the Sirsa District of India using the official figures by the Indian Bureau of Statistics. Bastiaanssen and Ali (2003) used a similar approach which produced realistic results for wheat and sugarcane crops cultivated in the Indus Basin, Pakistan. On average, an accuracy of over 90% was achieved in the yield estimations. This can be improved further if local yield data are used in the calibration.

2. Empirical models relating spectral vegetation index and yield

Several studies used linear regression between spectral vegetation indices and crop yield. The yield data can be taken from crop cutting experiments or from secondary data sources. A single vegetation index measurement or the accumulated vegetation index for crop- specific developmental phases can be selected. The USDA method is based on the latter selection and applies essentially to cereals; it works particularly well for wheat (Hatfield 1983b). Applications in other crops include Daughtry *et al.* (1992) with maize and soybean and Steven *et al.* (1983) with sugarbeet.

3. Integration of remotely sensed data and crop growth models

Satellite measurements can be linked with crop simulation models. By comparison of model and satellite-based variables, the model updates its state conditions, remaining

more in line with the actual crop growing conditions. This complex mathematical approach is meant to estimate the production of a representative field in a given region, and is suitable for research more than to management applications. Currently, it is not feasible to apply modelling of this complexity at the scale of individual pixels. Examples of this approach can be found in Maas (1991) and Vazifedoust *et al.* (2009).

In summary, approach 1 requires standard computation procedures and is applicable across a range of physiographical conditions; assumptions on both radiation use efficiency and harvest index need local and crop specific calibration libraries that could be valid for a number of 5 to 10 years. Approach 2 generates simple solutions for particular crops provided satisfactory agreement can be found between spectral vegetation indices and crop yield, but requires repeatedly local calibrations against destructive crop yield measurements that constrain its application. Moreover, poor regression results are often found (e.g. Lyle *et al* 2013). Approach 3 is more suitable for scientific research than applications.

4.4.1. Benchmarking crop yield and yield gaps with remote sensing

The work of Lobell and Ortiz-Monasterio (2006) and Samarasinghe (2003) are examples of the multiple and varied combinations of modelling and remote sensing that can be used in benchmarking crop yield. Lobell and Ortiz-Monasterio (2006) worked with wheat in Mexico and Samarasinghe (2003) with rice, tea, rubber and coconut in Sri Lanka. Both used a similar yield reference for gap calculations, i.e. highest yield in farmer's fields (Lobell and Ortiz-Monasterio 2006) or 95 percentile yield (Samarasinghe 2003). Lobell and Ortiz-Monasterio (2006) combined Landsat images with a temperature-based model of crop growth and Samarasinghe (2007) combined NOAA-AVHRR images with a radiation-based model of crop growth based on SEBAL ET rates and soil moisture values from Sri Lanka (Bastiaanssen and Chandrapala, 2003). Lobell and Ortiz-Monasterio (2006) further crossed-linked remote sensing data with modelled grain yield using CERES-wheat.

Figure 31 shows the estimated ratio between actual and attainable yield in the Doukkala irrigation scheme in Morocco, where the attainable yield is defined as the 95% percentile on the probability density function of actual crop yield. By considering this ratio in single pixels within the same agro-ecological zone, the opportunity arises to define the yield gap for all different crop types. The dominant crop types are wheat, maize, soybean and sugarbeet. The areas with a ratio lower than 0.7 are either rainfed crops, or partially irrigated crops. Indeed, the Doukkala irrigation scheme is located in the tail end of the Uom R'bia river basin system, and the scheme is in competition with water resources that are diverted to Casablanca.

4.4.2. Benchmarking water productivity with remote sensing

Remote sensing has also been used to estimate evapotranspiration with a number of methods at different scales in space and time (Hatfield 1983a; Borchardt and Trauth 2012; Jian *et al.* 2012; Ma *et al.* 2012; Poblete-Echeverria and Ortega-Farias 2012; Yang *et al.* 2012b; Yang *et al.* 2012a); details of these methods are beyond the scope of this publication. Combined with estimates of yield based on remote sensing (Box 4), these estimates of evapotranspiration allow for calculation of water productivity that is fully derived from remote sensing.

FIGURE 31

31. Spatial distribution of the ratio between actual and attainable crop yield in the irrigation scheme Doukkala in Morocco. The attainable yield is estimated as the 98% percentile of the crop yield for various crop types grown in the region.



Methods have also been developed that directly estimate water productivity without individual solutions to crop yield and evapotranspiration. Zwart *et al.* (2010) for example, reduced the inputs of the equation of water productivity to four spatial variables derived from routine satellite measurements: broadband surface albedo, normalised difference vegetation index (NDVI), extraterrestrial radiation and air temperature. The model of Zwart *et al.* (2010) was used to map wheat water productivity on a global scale. Their study was followed up by Bastiaanssen *et al.* (2010) for wheat, rice and maize at global scale level and publications are under preparation.

Gonzalez-Dugo and Mateos (2008) benchmarked water productivity of irrigated cotton and sugarbeet in an irrigation scheme comprising 15,000 ha in southern Spain. They used published boundary functions, i.e. yield vs evapotranspiration, for each crop and actual yield from local growers (Approach 2). To relate actual yield and actual evapotranspiration, reference evapotranspiration was multiplied by robust crop coefficients derived from multispectral vegetation indices, derived in turn from ground- or satellite-based radiometric measurements.

5. Conclusions and recommendations

The spatial scale selected for benchmarking should depend on the nature of the problem. For the improvement of yield at the farm scale, for example, benchmarking at the field level is required. Parallel to the spatial scale, the time scale needs consideration. If the aim is to benchmark crops under current technology, the time scale needs to be long enough to capture as much variation in seasonal conditions as possible, and short enough to meet the assumption of constant technology. A dynamic perspective allows for benchmarking that captures time trends associated with technological progress, rates of adoption and environmental change. Both static and dynamic approaches to benchmarking yield of rainfed crops need to capture the large seasonal and intraseasonal variation of rainfall in dry environments. The diversity of benchmarking methods outlined in this publication reflects the diversity of spatial and temporal scales, the questions asked, and the resources available to answer them. We grouped methods in four broad approaches. These approaches are not rigid, and combinations of methods are common.

Approach 1 compares actual yield with the best yield achieved in comparable environmental conditions, e.g. between neighbours with similar topography and soils (Section 4.1). Comparisons of this type are spatially constrained by definition, and are an approximation to the gap between actual and attainable yield. With minimum input and greatest simplicity, this allows for limited but useful benchmarks; yield gaps can be primarily attributed to differences in management. This approach can be biased, however, where best management practices are not feasible as illustrated for maize in Kenya; modelled yields provide more relevant benchmarks in these cases (Section 4.1.3). On the other hand, current models are unsuitable to answer some questions of local relevance. For example, generic crop models are unable to capture the biophysical interactions between green manure and chemically and physically contrasting soils; the question of maize yield gaps and risks associated with these drivers in sub-Saharan Africa is thus answered with a combination of actual yield data and various models (Section 4.1.2).

Approach 2 is a variation of approach 1, i.e. it is based on comparisons of actual yield, but instead of a single yield benchmark, attainable yield is expressed as a function of one or few environmental drivers such as actual evapotranspiration. In common with Approach 1, these methods do not necessarily capture best management practices. The French and Schultz model is the archetype in this approach, and other variants include nitrogen uptake or soil properties instead of water. A boundary model fitted to the data provides a scaled benchmark, thus partially accounting for seasonal conditions. Parameters for boundary functions can be estimated with quantile regression, which requires some arbitrary assumption on the fraction of data to be used. Inclusion of empirical curve fitting and physiologically informed parameterisation has also been used. We recommend (i) using the method of Milne *et al.* as a statistically robust, objective approach to derive boundary functions for physiological and agronomic meaning. Where statistical and biophysical criteria conflict, we are inclined to favour biophysical criteria.

Approach 3 is based on modelling which may range from simple climatic indices such as Fischer's photothermal coefficient to intermediate models such as AquaCrop and the more complex CERES-type models. More complex models are valuable agronomically because they capture some genetic features of the specific cultivar, and the critical interaction between water and nitrogen. "Best practice" to model yield in gap analysis has been outlined (Section 3.3). Importantly, models to estimate potential yield require parameters that capture the physiology of unstressed crops. Particular attention needs to be paid to weather data used in modelling yield because significant bias can accrue from inappropriate data sources; this is illustrated for gridded global weather databases in Section 3.3.2. Studies that have used gridded weather databases to simulate potential and water-limited yields for a grid are rarely validated against simulated yields based on actual weather station data from locations within the same grid. This should be standard practice, particularly where global scale yield gaps are used for policy decisions or investment in R&D. Alternatively, point-based simulations of potential and water-limited yields, complemented with an appropriate up-scaling method, may be more appropriate for large scale yield gap analysis.

Approach 4 benchmarking involves a range of approaches combining remote sensing, actual data, and models of varying complexity (Section 4.4). These models can be applied to any pixl of 10 m x 10m or 30m x 30 m or assimilate basic remote sensing vegetation data into complex mechanistic crop growth simulation models. This approach is important for benchmarking at and above the regional scale. Remote sensing applied to yield gap analysis has improved over the last years, but significant constraints remain unsolved including the radiation use efficiency and harvest index, which require a local calibration. The vantage point of remote sensing is the production of actual yield data that facilitates the identification of local yield gaps.

Irrespective of the approach used to estimate yield and calculating yield gaps, a critical assessment of data reliability (yield, weather, agronomy) and sound understanding of the actual biophysical and agronomic background of the targeted system are essential to reduce the likelihood of misinterpretation of data. Variation of yield within fields remains a challenge for yield gap analysis.

Glossary

Precision: the extent to which a measurement procedure gives the same results each time it is repeated under identical conditions.

Accuracy: the closeness of a measurement to the true value.

- **Boundary function:** upper and/or lower limit to the value of the response variable at any given value of the independent variable imposed by some biological mechanism so that values larger/smaller than the upper/lower boundary, respectively, are not possible (ignoring measurement error). Boundary functions are also called "envelope" functions.
- Benchmark: a point of reference that serves as a basis for evaluation or comparison.
- **Decile:** one of nine actual or notional values of a variable dividing its distribution into ten groups with equal frequencies. For example, the 9th decile is the value below which 90% of the population lie.
- **Percentile:** one of 99 actual or notional values of a variable dividing its distribution into 100 groups with equal frequencies. For example, the 90th percentile is the value below which 90% of the population lie.

References

- Abbate, P. E., Dardanelli, J. L., Cantarero, M. G., Maturano, M., Melchiori, R. J. M. & Suero, E. E. 2004. Climatic and water availability effects on water-use efficiency in wheat. *Crop. Sci.* 44, 474-483.
- Akaike, H. 1973. 2nd International Symposium on Information Theory (eds B.N. Petov & F. Csaki) 267-281.
- Andrade, F. H., Sadras, V. O., Vega, C. R. C. & Echarte, L. 2005. Physiological determinants of crop growth and yield in maize, sunflower and soybean: their application to crop management, modelling and breeding. J. Crop Improv. 14, 51-101.
- Angus, J. F. & van Herwaarden, A. F. 2001. Increasing water use and water use efficiency in dryland wheat. Agron. J. 93, 290-298.
- Asrar, G., Myneni, R. B. & Choudhury, B. J. 1992. Spatial heterogeneity in vegetation canopies and remote-sensing of absorbed photosynthetically active radiation - a modeling study *Remote Sensing of Environment* 41, 85-103, doi:10.1016/0034-4257(92)90070-z.
- Asseng, S., Turner, N. C. & Keating, B. A. 2001. Analysis of water- and nitrogen-use efficiency of wheat in a Mediterranean climate. *Plant Soil* 233, 127-143.
- Bai, J., Chen, X., Dobermann, A., Yang, H., Cassman, K.G. & Zhang, F. 2010. Evaluation of NASA Satellite- and Model-Derived Weather Data for Simulation of Maize Yield Potential in China. *Agron. J.* 102, 9-16, doi:10.2134/agronj2009.0085 (2010).
- Baret, F. & Guyot, G. 1991. Potentials and limits of vegetation indexes for LAI and APAR assessment. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 35, 161-173, doi:10.1016/0034-4257(91)90009-u.
- Bastiaanssen, W. G. M. & Ali, S. 2003. A new crop yield forecasting model based on satellite measurements applied across the Indus Basin, Pakistan. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 94, 321-340, doi:10.1016/s0167-8809(02)00034-8.
- Bastiaanssen, W.G.M. & Chandrapala L., 2003. Water balance variability across Sri Lanka for assessing agricultural and environmental water use, Agricultural Water Management 58(2): 171-192
- Bastiaanssen, W.G.M., I.J. Miltenburg and S.J. Zwart, 2010. Global-WP, modelling and mapping global water productivity of wheat, maize and rice, report to FAO NRL Division, index 3029203, Rome, Italy: 118 pp.
- Bathia, V. S., Singh, P., Wani, S. P., Kesava Rao, A. V. R. & Srinivas, K. 2006. Yield gap analysis of soybean, groundnut, pigenonpea and chickpea in India using simulaiton modelling. Global Theme on Agroecosystems Report 31. 156 (ICRISAT, Patancheru, Andra Pradesh, India).

- Belder, P., Bouman, B.A.M., Spiertz, J.H.J., Peng, S., Castaneda, A.R. & Visperas, R.M. 2005. Crop performance, nitrogen and water use in flooded and aerobic rice. *Plant Soil* 273, 167-182.
- Bell, M. A. & Fischer, R. A. 1994. Using yield prediction models to assess yield gains: a case study for wheat. *Field Crops Res.* 36, 161-166, doi:10.1016/0378-4290(94)90064-7.
- Bingham, J. 1967. Breeding cereals for improved yield capacity. Ann. appl. Biol. 59, 312-315.
- Bondeau, A., Smith, P., Zaehle, S., Schaphoff, S., Lucht, W., Cramer, W., Gerten, D., Lotze-Campen, H., Müller, C., Reichstein, M. & Smith, B. 2007. Modelling the role of agriculture for the 20th century global terrestrial carbon balance. *Global Change Biol.* 13, 679-706, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01305.x.
- Borchardt, S. & Trauth, M. H. 2012. Remotely-sensed evapotranspiration estimates for an improved hydrological modeling of the early Holocene mega-lake Suguta, northern Kenya Rift. *Palaeogeography Palaeoclimatology Palaeoecology* 361, 14-20, doi:10.1016/j.palaeo.2012.07.009.
- Bouman, B.A.M., Kropff, M.J., Tuong, T.P., Wopereis, M.C.S., Ten Berge, H.F.M., & Van Laar, H.H. 2001. ORYZA2000: Modeling Lowland Rice. *IRRI*, *Los Banos*, *Laguna*.
- Bouman, B. A. M., Peng, S., Castañeda, A. R. & Visperas, R. M. 2005. Yield and water use of irrigated tropical aerobic rice systems. *Agric Water Manag* 74, 87-105.
- Bouman, B. A. M., Humphreys, E., Tuong, T. P. & Barker, R. 2006. Rice and water. Adv. Agron. 92, 187-237.
- Brisson, N., Gate, P., Gouache, D., Charmet, G., Oury, F.X. & Huard, F. 2010. Why are wheat yields stagnating in Europe? A comprehensive data analysis for France. *Field Crops Res.* 119, 201-212, doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2010.07.012.
- Caldiz, D. O., Haverkort, A. J. & Struik, P. C. 2002. Analysis of a complex crop production system in interdependent agro-ecological zones: a methodological approach for potatoes in Argentina. *Agric. Syst.* 73, 297-311.
- Calviño, P. A. & Sadras, V. O. 1999. Interannual variation in soybean yield: interaction among rainfall, soil depth and crop management. *Field Crops Res.* 63, 237-246.
- Calviño, P. A. & Sadras, V. O. 2002. On-farm assessment of constraints to wheat yield in the south-eastern Pampas. *Field Crops Res.* 74, 1-11
- Calviño, P. A., Andrade, F. H. & Sadras, V. O. 2003. Maize yield as affected by water availability, soil depth and crop management. *Agron. J.* 95, 275-281.
- Campbell, R. 2013. Lies, damned lies. *Australian and New Zealand Grapegrower and Winemaker* 590, 6.
- Cantagallo, J. E., Chimenti, C. A. & Hall, A. J. 1997. Number of seeds per unit area in sunflower correlates well with a photothermal quotient. *Crop. Sci.* 37, 1780-1786.

- Casanova, D., Goudriaan, J., Bouma, J. & Epema, G. F. 1999. Yield gap analysis in relation to soil properties in direct-seeded flooded rice. *Geoderma* 91, 191-216.
- Casanova, D., Goudriaan, J., Catala Forner, M. M. & Withagen, J. C. M. 2002. Rice yield prediction from yield components and limiting factors. *Eur. J. Agron.* 17, 41-61.
- Cassman, K. G. & Pingali, P. L. 1995. Intensification of irrigated rice systems: learning from the past to meet future challenges. *GeoJournal* 35, 299-305, doi:10.2307/41146410.
- Cassman, K. G. 1999. Ecological intensification of cereal production systems: Yield potential, soil quality, and precision agriculture. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 96, 5952-5959.
- Cassman, K. G. 2012. What do we need to know about global food security? *Global Food Security* 1, 81-82, doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2012.12.001.
- Caviglia, O. P., Sadras, V. O. & Andrade, F. H. 2004. Intensification of agriculture in the south-eastern Pampas I. Capture and efficiency in the use of water and radiation in double-cropped wheat-soybean. *Field Crops Res.* 87, 117-129.
- Ciampitti, I. A. & Vyn, T. J. 2012. Physiological perspectives of changes over time in maize yield dependency on nitrogen uptake and associated nitrogen efficiencies: A review. *Field Crops Res.* 133, 48-67, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2012.03.008.
- Connor, D. J. & Fereres, E. 1999. A dynamic model of crop growth and partitioning of biomass. *Field Crops Res.* 63, 139-157, doi:10.1016/s0378-4290(99)00032-5.
- Connor, D. J., Loomis, R. S. & Cassman, K. G. 2011. Crop ecology: productivity and management in agricultural systems. (Cambridge University Press).
- Connor, D. J. & Mínguez, M. I. 2012. Evolution not revolution of farming systems will best feed and green the world. *Global Food Security* 1, 106-113, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2012.10.004.
- Cooper, P. J. M., Gregory, P. J., Tully, D. & Harris, H. C. 1987. Improving water use efficiency of annual crops in rainfed systems of west Asia and North Africa. *Exp.* Agr. 23, 113-158.
- Cossani, C. M., Savin, R. & Slafer, G. A. 2010. Co-limitation of nitrogen and water on yield and resource-use efficiencies of wheat and barley. *Crop Past. Sci.* 61, 844-851.
- **CSIRO.** 2011. The Millennium Drought and 2010/11 Floods. *South Eastern Australia Climate Initiative Facsheet* q, q.
- Daughtry, C. S. T., Gallo, K. P., Goward, S. N., Prince, S. D. & Kustas, W. P.1992. Spectral estimates of absorbed radiation and phytomass production in corn and soybean canopies. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 39, 141-152, doi:10.1016/0034-4257(92)90132-4.
- de Wit A, Baruth, B., Boogaard, H., van Diepen, K., van Kraalingen, D., Micale, F., te Roller, J., Supit, I. & van den Wijngaart, R. 2010. Using ERA-INTERIM for

regional crop yield forecasting in Europe. *Climate Research* 44, 41-53, doi:10.3354/ cr00872.

- Doherty, D., Rodriguez, D., Potgieter, A. & Sadras, V. O. in Australian Society of Agronomy Conference. (ed M. J. Unkovich) 95.
- Donald, C. M. 1981. Wheat Science Today and Tomorrow (eds L.T. Evans & W.J. Peacock) 223-247 (Cambridge University Press).
- Egli, D. B. 2008. Soybean yield trends from 1972 to 2003 in mid-western USA. *Field Crops Res.* 106, 53-59.
- Evans, L. T. 1993. Crop Evolution, Adaptation and Yield. (Cambridge University Press).
- Evans, L. T. & Fischer, R. A. 1999. Yield potential: its definition, measurement and significance. Crop. Sci. 39, 1544-1551.
- FAO, IFPRI & SAGE. 2006. Agro-Maps. A global spatial database of agricultural land-use statistics aggregated by sub-national administrative districts. *http://www.fao.org/landandwater/agll/agromaps/interactive/index.jsp.*
- FAO. 2011. The state of the world's land and water resources for food and agriculture (SOLAW) – Managing systems at risk. (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome and Earthscan, London, 2011).
- FAO. 2012. FAOSTAT online database, available at link: http://faostat.fao.org/ site/339/default.aspx.
- Farahani, H. J., Peterson, G. A. & Westfall, D. G. 1998. Dryland cropping intensification: a fundamental solution to efficient use of precipitation. Adv. Agron. 64, 197-223.
- Farooq, M., Kobayashi, N., Wahid, A., Ito, O. & Basra, S. M. A. 2009. Strategies for producing more rice with less water. *Adv. Agron.* 101, 351-388.
- Fereres, E. & Soriano, M. A. 2007. Deficit irrigation for reducing agricultural water use. J. Exp. Bot. 58, 147-159.
- Field, C., Jackson, R. & Mooney, H. 1995. Stomatal responses to increased CO2: implications from the plant to the global scale. *Plant Cell Environ* 18, 1214-1225.
- Fischer, R. A. 1985. Number of kernels in wheat crops and the influence of solar radiation and temperature. *J. agric. Sci.* 105, 447-46.
- Foulkes, M. J., Reynolds, M. P. & Sylvester-Bradley, R. 2009. Crop physiology: applications for genetic improvement and agronomy (eds V. O. Sadras & D. F. Calderini) 355-385 (Academic Press, 2009).
- Foulkes, M.J., Slafer, G.A., Davies, W.J., Berry, P.M., Sylvester-Bradley, R., Martre, P., Calderini, D.F., Griffiths, S. & Reynolds, M.P. 2011. Raising yield potential of wheat. III. Optimizing partitioning to grain while maintaining lodging resistance. J. Exp. Bot. 62, 469-486, doi:10.1093/jxb/erq300.
- French, R. J. & Schultz, J. E. 1984a. Water use efficiency of wheat in a Mediterranean type environment. I. The relation between yield, water use and climate. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 35, 743-764.
- French, R. J. & Schultz, J. E. 1984b. Water use efficiency of wheat in a Mediterranean type environment. II. Some limitations to efficiency. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 35, 765-775 (1984).
- Geerts, S., Raes, D., Garcia, M., Taboada, C., Miranda, R., Cusicanqui, J., Mhizha, T. & Vacher, J. 2009. Modeling the potential for closing quinoa yield gaps under varying water availability in the Bolivian Altiplano. Agric Water Manag 96, 1652-1658, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2009.06.020.
- Gonzalez-Dugo, M. P. & Mateos, L. 2008. Spectral vegetation indices for benchmarking water productivity of irrigated cotton and sugarbeet. *Agric Water Manag* 95, 48-58.
- Goudriaan, R. & Bastiaanssen, W. G. M. 2013. Land and water productivity in the Doukkala irrigation scheme, Morocco. Season October 2010 – September 2011. FAO - Report.
- Grassini, P. & Cassman, K. G. 2012. High-yield maize with large net energy yield and small global warming intensity (vol 109, pg 1074, 2012). *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 109, 1074-1079, doi:10.1073/pnas.1201296109.
- Grassini, P., Thorburn, J., Burr, C. & Cassman, K. G. 2011. High-yield irrigated maize systems in Western U.S. Corn-Belt. II. Irrigation management and crop water productivity. *Field Crops Res.* 120, 133–141.
- Grassini, P., Yang, H. S. & Cassman, K. G. 2009a. Limits to maize productivity in Western Corn-Belt: A simulation analysis for fully irrigated and rainfed conditions. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 149, 1254-1265, doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2009.02.012.
- Grassini, P., Hall, A. J. & Mercau, J. L. 2009b. Benchmarking sunflower water productivity in semiarid environments. *Field Crops Res.* 110, 251-262.
- Hall, A. J., Feoli, C., Ingaramo, J. & Balzarini, M. 2013. Gaps between farmer and attainable yields across rainfed sunflower growing regions of Argentina. *Field Crops Res.* 143, 119-129.
- Hammer, A., Heinemann, D., Hoyer, C., Kuhlemann, R., Lorenz, E., Müller, R.W.
 & Beyer, H.G. 2003. Solar energy assessment using remote sensing technologies. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 86, 423-432, doi:10.1016/s0034-4257(03)00083-x.
- Hatfield, J. L. 1983a. Evapotranspiration obtained from remote sensing methods. Advances in Irrigation 2, 395-416.
- Hatfield, J. L. 1983b. Remote sensing estimations of potential and actual crop yield. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 13, 301-311.
- Hay, R. K. M. 1995. Harvest index: a review of its use in plant breeding and crop physiology. *Ann. appl. Biol.* 126, 197-216.

- Hilker, T., Coops, N. C., Wulder, M. A., Black, T. A. & Guy, R. D. 2008. The use of remote sensing in light use efficiency based models of gross primary production: A review of current status and future requirements. *Science of the Total Environment* 404, 411-423, doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2007.11.007.
- Hochman, Z., Carberry, P. S., Robertson, M. J., Gaydon, D. S., Bell, L. W. & McIntosh, P. C. 2013. Prospects for ecological intensification of Australian agriculture. *Eur. J. Agron.* 44, 109-123, doi:10.1016/j.eja.2011.11.003 (2013).
- Hochman, Z., Holzworth, D. & Hunt, J. R. 2009. Potential to improve on-farm wheat yield and WUE in Australia. *Crop & Pasture Science* 60, 708-716, doi:10.1071/cp09064.
- Jian, S., Salvucci, G. D. & Entekhabi, D. 2012. Estimates of evapotranspiration from MODIS and AMSR-E land surface temperature and moisture over the Southern Great Plains. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 127, 44-59, doi:10.1016/j. rse.2012.08.020.
- Jones, J. W., Hoogenboom, G., Porter, C.H., Boote K.J., Batchelor W.D, Hunt, L.A., Wilkens, P.W., Singh, U., Gijsman, A.J. & Ritchie, J.T. 2003. The DSSAT cropping system model. *Eur. J. Agron.* 18, 235 - 265.
- Kahinda, J.-m. M., Rockström, J., Taigbenu, A. E. & Dimes, J. 2007. Rainwater harvesting to enhance water productivity of rainfed agriculture in the semi-arid Zimbabwe. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C* 32, 1068-1073.
- Kato, Y., Okami, M. & Katsura, K. 2009. Yield potential and water use efficiency of aerobic rice (Oryza sativa L.) in Japan. *Field Crops Res.* 113, 328-334.
- Keating, B.A., Carberry, P.S., Hammer, G.L., Probert, M.E., Robertson, M.J., Holzworth, D., Huth, N.I., Hargreaves, J.N.G., Meinke, H., Hochman, Z., McLean, G., Verburg, K., Snow, V., Dimes, J.P., Silburn, M., Wang, E., Brown, S., Bristow, K.L., Asseng, S., Chapman, S., McCown, R.L., Freebairn, D.M. & Smith, C.J. 2003. An overview of APSIM, a model designed for farming systems simulation. *Eur. J. Agron.* 18, 267 288 (2003).
- Kemanian, A. R., Stockle, C. O., Huggins, D. R. & Viega, L. M. 2007. A simple method to estimate harvest index in grain crops. *Field Crops Res.* 103, 208-216.
- Kim, K. I., Clay, D. E., Carlson, C. G., Clay, S. A. & Trooien, T. 2008. Do synergistic relationships between nitrogen and water influence the ability of corn to use nitrogen derived from fertilizer and soil? *Agron. J.* 100, 551-556.
- Kim, S. & Dale, B. E. 2004. Global potential bioethanol production from wasted crops and crop residues. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 26, 361-375, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2003.08.002.
- Körner, C. 1991. Some often overlooked plant characteristics as determinants of plant growth: a reconsideration. *Funct. Ecol.* 5, 162-173.
- Laborte, A. G., De Bie, K., Smaling, E. M. A., Moya, P. F., Boling, A.A. & van Ittersum, M. K. 2012. Rice yields and yield gaps in Southeast Asia: Past trends and future outlook. *Eur. J. Agron.* 36, 9-20, doi:10.1016/j.eja.2011.08.005.

- Liang, W, Carberry, P., Wang, G., Lü, R., Lü, H. & Xia, A. 2011. Quantifying the yield gap in wheat-maize cropping systems of the Hebei Plain, China. *Field Crops Res.* 124, 180-185, doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2011.07.010.
- Licker, R., Johnston, M., Foley, J.A., Barford, C., Kucharik, C.J., Monfreda, C. & Ramankutty, N. 2010. Mind the gap: how do climate and agricultural management explain the 'yield gap' of croplands around the world? *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 19, 769-782, doi:10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00563.x.
- Licker R., Johnston M., Foley J. A. & Ramankutty, N. (2008). From the ground up: The role of climate versus management on global crop yield patterns. *American Geophysical Union, Fall Meeting 2008*, abstract #GC11A-0674.
- Lindquist, J. L., Arkebauer, T. J., Walters, D. T., Cassman, K. G. & Dobermann, A. 2005. Maize radiation use efficiency under optimal growth conditions. *Agron. J.* 97, 72-78.
- Lobell, D. B. & Asner, G. P. 2003a. Climate and management contributions to recent trends in US agricultural yields. *Science* 299, 1032-1032, doi:10.1126/science.1077838.
- Lobell, D. B., Asner, G. P., Ortiz-Monasterio, J. I. & Benning, T. L. 2003b. Remote sensing of regional crop production in the Yaqui Valley, Mexico: estimates and uncertainties. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 94, 205-220, doi:10.1016/s0167-8809(02)00021-x.
- Lobell, D. B. & Ortiz-Monasterio, J. I. 2006. Regional importance of crop yield constraints: Linking simulation models and geostatistics to interpret spatial patterns. *Ecol. Model.* 196, 173-182.
- Lobell, D. B., Cassman, K. G. & Field, C. B. 2009. Crop yield gaps: their importance, magnitudes, and causes. Ann. Revi. Environ. Res. 34, 179-204, doi:doi:10.1146/ annurev.environ.041008.093740.
- Lobell, D. B., Ivan Ortiz-Monasterio, J. & Lee, A. S. 2010. Satellite evidence for yield growth opportunities in Northwest India. *Field Crops Res.* 118, 13-20, doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2010.03.013.
- Lobell, D. B. 2013. The use of satellite data for crop yield gap analysis. *Field Crops Res.* 143, 56-64, doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2012.08.008.
- Loomis, R. S. & Amthor, J. S. 1999. Yield Potential, Plant Assimilatory Capacity, and Metabolic Efficiencies. *Crop. Sci.* 39, 1584-1596.
- Lyle, G., Lewis, M. & Ostendorf, B. 2013. Testing the temporal ability of landsat imagery and precision agriculture technology to provide high resolution historical estimates of wheat yield at the farm scale. *Remote Sensing* 5, 1549-1567.
- Ma, W., Hafeez, M., Rabbani, U., Ishikawa, H. & Ma, Y. 2012. Retrieved actual ET using SEBS model from Landsat-5 TM data for irrigation area of Australia. *Atmos. Environ.* 59, 408-414, doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2012.05.040.

- Maas, S. J. 1991. Use of remotely sensed information in agricultural crop yield. *Agron. J.* 80, 655-662.
- Marin, F. R. & de Carvalho, G. L. 2012. Spatio-temporal variability of sugarcane yield efficiency in the state of Sao Paulo, Brazil. *Pesquisa Agrop. Brasil.* 47, 149-156.
- Menendez, F. J. & Satorre, E. H. 2007. Evaluating wheat yield potential determination in the Argentine Pampas. *Agric. Syst.* 95, 1-10.
- Milne, A. E., Ferguson, R. B. & Lark, R. M. 2006a. Estimating a boundary line model for a biological response by maximum likelihood. *Ann. appl. Biol.* 149, 223-234, doi:doi:10.1111/j.1744-7348.2006.00086.x.
- Milne, A. E., Wheeler, H. C. & Lark, R. M. 2006b. On testing biological data for the presence of a boundary. *Ann. appl. Biol.* 149, 213-222, doi:doi:10.1111/j.1744-7348.2006.00085.x.
- Monfreda, C., Ramankutty, N. & Foley, J. A. 2008. Farming the planet: 2. Geographic distribution of crop areas, yields, physiological types, and net primary production in the year 2000. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 22, doi:10.1029/2007gb002947.
- Monteith, J. L. 1977. Climate and efficiency of crop production in Britain. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B.* 281, 277-294.
- Monzon, J. P., Sadras, V. O. & Andrade, F. H. 2006. Fallow soil evaporation and water storage as affected by stubble in sub-humid (Argentina) and semi-arid (Australia) environments *Field Crops Res.* 98, 83-90.
- Musick, J. T., Jones, O. R., Stewart, B. A. & Dusek, D. A. 1994. Water-yield relationships for irrigated and dryland wheat in the U.S. southern plains. *Agron. J.* 86, 980-986.
- Myneni, R.B., Hoffman, S., Knyazikhin, Y., Privette, J.L., Glassy, J., Tian, Y., Wang, Y., Song, X., Zhang, Y., Smith, G.R., Lotsch, A., Friedl, M., Morisette, J.T., Votava, P., Nemani, R.R. & Running, S.W. 2002. Global products of vegetation leaf area and fraction absorbed PAR from year one of MODIS data. *Remote Sensing* of Environment 83, 214-231, doi:10.1016/s0034-4257(02)00074-3.
- Nelson, G. C., Rosegrant, M. W., Palazzo, A., Gray, I., Ingersoll, C., Robertson, R., Tokgoz, S., Zhu, T., Sulser, T. B., Ringler, C., Msangi, S. & You, L. 2010. Food security, farming and climate change to 2050. (International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC).
- Ohsumi, A., Hamasaki, A., Nakagawa, H., Homma, K., Horie, T. & Shiraiwa, T. 2008. Response of leaf photosynthesis to vapor pressure difference in rice (Oryza sativa L) varieties in relation to stomatal and leaf internal conductance. *Plant Production Science* 11, 184-191, doi:10.1626/pps.11.184.
- O'Leary, G. J. & Connor, D. J. 1996. A simulation model of the wheat crop in response to water and nitrogen supply: 2. Model validation. Agric. Syst. 52, 31-55.

- Ortiz, R., Sayre, K.D., Govaerts, B., Gupta, R., Subbarao, G.V., Ban, T., Hodson, D.P., Dixon, J., Ortiz-Monasterio, I. & Reynolds, M.P. 2008. Climate change: Can wheat beat the heat? *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 126, 46-58.
- Otieno, D., Lindner, S., Muhr, J. & Borken, W. 2012. Sensitivity of Peatland Herbaceous Vegetation to Vapor Pressure Deficit Influences Net Ecosystem CO₂ Exchange. *Wetlands* 32, 895-905, doi:10.1007/s13157-012-0322-8.
- Parry, M.A.J., Reynolds, M.P., Salvucci, M.E., Raines, C., Andralojc, P.J., Xin-Guang Zhu, Price, G.D., Condon, A.G. & Furbank, R.T. 2011. Raising yield potential of wheat. II. Increasing photosynthetic capacity and efficiency. *J. Exp. Bot.* 62, 453-467, doi:10.1093/jxb/erq304.
- Passioura, J. B. 1996. Simulation models: science, snake oil, education, or engineering? Agron. J. 88, 690-716.
- Peltonen-Sainio, P., Rajala, A., Känkänen, H. & Hakala, K. 2009. Crop physiology: applications for genetic improvement and agronomy (eds V. O. Sadras & D. F. Calderini) 71-97 (Academic Press, 2009).
- Poblete-Echeverria, C. & Ortega-Farias, S. 2012. Calibration and validation of a remote sensing algorithm to estimate energy balance components and daily actual evapotranspiration over a drip-irrigated Merlot vineyard. *Irr. Sci.* 30, 537-553, doi:10.1007/s00271-012-0381-x.
- Potgieter, A., Meinke, H., Doherty, A., Sadras, V. O., Hammer, G., Crimp, S. & Rodriguez, D. 2013. Spatial impact of projected changes in rainfall and temperature on wheat yields in Australia. *Climatic Change* 117, 163–179, doi:10.1007/s10584-012-0543-0.
- Raes, D., Steduto, P., Hsiao, T. C. & Fereres, E. 2010. Aquacrop, version 3.1. Users guide. FAO, Rome.
- Ramirez-Villegas, J. & Challinor, A. 2012. Assessing relevant climate data for agricultural applications. Agric. Forest Meteorol. 161, 26-45, doi:10.1016/j. agrformet.2012.03.015.
- Richards, R. A. Physiological traits used in the breeding of new cultivars for waterscarce environments. *Agric Water Manag* 80, 197-211 (2006).
- Ritchie, J. T. 1972. Model for predicting evaporation from a row crop with incomplete cover. *Water Resources Research* 8, 1204-1213.
- Rockström, J., Jansson, P. E. & Barron, J. 1998. Seasonal rainfall partitioning under runon and runoff conditions on sandy soil in Niger. On-farm measurements and water balance modelling. *Journal of Hydrology* 210, 68-92 (1998).
- Rockström, J., Falkenmark, M., Lannerstad, M. & Karlberg, L. 2012. The planetary water drama: dual task of feeding humanity and curbing climate change. *Geophysical Research Letters* 39, L15401-L15401, doi:10.1029/2012gl051688.
- Roderick, M. L. & Farquhar, G. D. 2003. Pinatubo, diffuse light, and the carbon cycle. *Science* 299, 1997-1998.

- Rodriguez, D. & Sadras, V. O. 2007. The limit to wheat water use efficiency in eastern Australia. I. Gradients in the radiation environment and atmospheric demand. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 58, 287-302.
- Roget, D. K. 1995. Decline in root rot (*Rhizoctonia solani* AG-8) in wheat in a tillage and rotation experiment at Avon, South Australia. *Aust. J. Exp. Agric.* 35, 1009-1013.
- **Rötter, R. P.** 1993. Simulation of the biophysical limitations to maize production under rainfed conditions in Kenya: evaluation and application of the model WOFOST Ph D thesis, University of Trier, Germany.
- Rötter, R. P., Palosuo, T., Kersebaum, K. C., Angulo, C., Bindi, M., Ewert, F., Ferrise, R., Hlavinka, P., Moriondo, M., Nendel, C., Olesen, J. E., Pati, R. H., Ruget, F., Taká & J., Trnka, M. 2012. Simulation of spring barley yield in different climatic zones of Northern and Central Europe: A comparison of nine crop models. *Field Crops Res.* 133, 23-36, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2012.03.016.
- Sadras, V. O. & Connor, D. J. 1991. Physiological basis of the response of harvest index to the fraction of water transpired after anthesis. A simple model to estimate harvest index for determinate species. *Field Crops* Res. 26, 227-239.
- Sadras, V. O. & Roget, D. K. 2004. Production and environmental aspects of cropping intensification in a semiarid environment of southeastern Australia. Agron. J. 96, 236-246.
- Sadras, V. O. 2005. A quantitative top-down view of interactions between stresses: theory and analysis of nitrogen-water co-limitation in Mediterranean agro-ecosystems. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 56, 1151-1157.
- Sadras, V. O. & Angus, J. F. 2006. Benchmarking water use efficiency of rainfed wheat in dry environments. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 57, 847-856 (2006).
- Sadras, V. O. & Rodriguez, D. 2007. The limit to wheat water use efficiency in eastern Australia. II. Influence of rainfall patterns. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 58, 657-669.
- Sadras, V. O. 2007b. Evolutionary aspects of the trade-off between seed size and number in crops. *Field Crops Res.* 100, 125-138.
- Sadras, V. O. & Rodriguez, D. 2010. Modelling the nitrogen-driven trade-off between nitrogen utilisation efficiency and water use efficiency of wheat in eastern Australia. *Field Crops Res.* 118, 297–305.
- Sadras, V. O., Grassini, P. & Steduto, P. 2012. Status of water use efficiency of main crops. The State of the World's Land and Water Resources for Food and Agriculture, F.A.O. Thematic Report No. 7 http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/solaw/files/ thematic_reports/TR_07_web.pdf, 41 pp.
- Sadras, V. O. & Lawson, C. 2013a. Nitrogen and water-use efficiency of Australian wheat varieties released between 1958 and 2007. *Eur. J. Agron.* 46, 34-41.
- Sadras, V. O., Grassini, P., Costa, R., Cohan, L. & Hall, A. J. 2013b. How reliable are crop production data? Case studies in Argentina and USA. *personal communication*.

- Samarasinghe, G. B. 2003. Growth and yields of Sri Lanka's major crops interpreted from public domain satellites. *Agric Water Manag* 58, 145-157.
- Savin, R., Sadras, V. O. & Slafer, G. A. 2006. IX Congress of the European Society of Agronomy. Bibliotheca Fragmenta Agronomica volume 11, Book of proceedings, Part I. 339-340.
- Sileshi, G., Akinnifesi, F. K., Debusho, L. K., Beedy, T., Ajayi, O. C. & Mong'omba, S. 2010. Variation in maize yield gaps with plant nutrient inputs, soil type and climate across sub-Saharan Africa. *Field Crops Res.* 116, 1-13, doi:10.1016/j. fcr.2009.11.014 (2010).
- Sinclair, T. R. & Rawlins, S. L. 1993a. Inter-seasonal variation in soybean and maize yields under global environmental-change. *Agron. J.* 85, 406-409.
- Sinclair, T. & Shiraiwa, T. 1993b. Soybean radiation-use efficiency as influenced by nonunifrom specific leaf nitrogen and diffuse radiation. *Crop. Sci.* 32, 1281-1284.
- Slafer, G. A., Kantolic, A. G., Appendino, M. L., Miralles, D. J. & Savin, R. 2009. Crop Physiology 277-308 (Academic Press, 2009).
- Soltani, A. & Hoogenboom, G. 2007. Assessing crop management options with crop simulation models based on generated weather data. *Field Crops Res.* 103, 198-207, doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2007.06.003.
- Spitters, C. J. T. 1986. Separating the diffuse and direct component of global radiation and its implications for modelling canopy photosynthesis Part II. Calculations of canopy photosynthesis. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 38, 231-242.
- Stanhill, G. & Cohen, S. 2001. Global dimming: a review of the evidence for a widespread and significant reduction in global radiation with discussion of its probable causes and possible agricultural consequences. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 107, 255-278.
- Steduto, P., Hsiao, T. C., Raes, D. & Fereres, E. 2009. AquaCrop--The FAO Crop Model to Simulate Yield Response to Water: I. Concepts and Underlying Principles. *Agron. J.* 101, 426-437, doi:10.2134/agronj2008.0139s.
- Steduto, P., Hsiao, T. C., Fereres, E. & Raes, D. 2012. Crop yield response to water. FAO Irrigation and Drainage Paper 66.
- Steven, M. D., Briscoe, P. V. & Jaggard, K. W. 1983. Estimation of sugar-beet productivity from reflection in the red and infared-spectral bands. *International Journal of Remote Sensing* 4, 325-339.
- Stöckle, C. O., Donatelli, M. & Nelson, R. 2003. CropSyst, a cropping systems simulation model. *Eur. J. Agron.* 18, 289 307.
- Stocking, M. A. 2003. Tropical Soils and Food Security: The Next 50 Years. Science 302, 1356-1359
- Stöckle, C. O. & Kemanian, A. R. 2009. Crop physiology: applications for genetic improvement and agronomy (eds V. O. Sadras & D. F. Calderini) 145-170 (Academic Press, 2009).

- Sumberg, J. 2012. Mind the (yield) gap(s). Food Security 4, 509-518, doi:10.1007/s12571-012-0213-0.
- Tittonell, P., Corbeels, M., van Wijk, M. T., Vanlauwe, B. & Giller, K. E. 2006. Combining organic and mineral fertilizers for integrated soil fertility management in smallholder farming systems of Kenya: Explorations using the crop-soil model FIELD. Agron. J. 100, 1511-1526 (2006).
- Tittonell, P. & Giller, K. E. 2013. When yield gaps are poverty traps: The paradigm of ecological intensification in African smallholder agriculture. *Field Crops Res.* 143, 76-90, doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2012.10.007.
- Twine, T. E. & Kucharik, C. J. 2009. Climate impacts on net primary productivity trends in natural and managed ecosystems of the central and eastern United States. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 149, 2143-2161, doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2009.05.012.
- Unkovich, M., Baldock, J. & Forbes, M. 2010. Advances in Agronomy, Vol 105 Vol. 105 Advances in Agronomy (ed D. L. Sparks) 173-219.
- van Bussel, L. G. J., Muller, C., van Keulen, H., Ewert, F. & Leffelaar, P. A. 2011. The effect of temporal aggregation of weather input data on crop growth models' results. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 151, 607-619, doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2011.01.007.
- Van Dam, J. C. & Malik, R. S. 2003. Water productivity of irrigated crops in Sirsa district, India. WATPRO final report, ISBN 90-6464-864-6, 173 pp.
- van den Berg, M. & Singels, A. 2012. Modelling and monitoring for strategic yield gap diagnosis in the South African sugar belt. *Field Crops Res.*, doi:10.1016/j. fcr.2012.10.009.
- van Ittersum, M. K. & Rabbinge, R. 1997. Concepts in production ecology for analysis and quantification of agricultural input-output combinations. *Field Crops Res.* 52, 197-208.
- van Ittersum, M. K., Cassman, K.G., Grassini, P., Wolf, J., Tittonell, P.A. & Hochman, Z. 2012. Yield gap analysis with local and global relevance: a review. *Field Crops Reasearch.*
- van Ittersum, M. K., Cassman, K. G., Grassini, P., Wolf, J., Tittonell, P. & Hochman,
 Z. 2013. Yield gap analysis with local to global relevance—A review. *Field Crops Res.* 143, 4-17, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2012.09.009.
- Van Wart, J., Grassini, P. & Cassman, K. G. 2013. Estimated impact of weather data USDA-NASS USDA-NASS source on simulated crop yields. *Global Change Biol.*, in press.
- Vazifedoust, M., van Dam, J. C., Bastiaanssen, W. G. M. & Feddes, R. A. 2009. Assimilation of satellite data into agrohydrological models to improve crop yield forecasts. *International Journal of Remote Sensing* 30, 2523-2545, doi:10.1080/01431160802552769.

- Wairegi, L. W. I., van Asten, P. J. A., Tenywa, M. M. & Bekunda, M. A. 2010. Abiotic constraints override biotic constraints in East African highland banana systems. *Field Crops Res.* 117, 146-153, doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2010.02.010.
- Webb, R. A. 1972. Use of boundary line in analysis of biological data. Journal of *Horticultural Science & Biotechnology* 47, 309-&.
- Yang, Y., Shang, S. & Jiang, L. 2012a. Remote sensing temporal and spatial patterns of evapotranspiration and the responses to water management in a large irrigation district of North China. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 164, 112-122, doi:10.1016/j. agrformet.2012.05.011.
- Yang, Y., Su, H., Zhang, R., Tian, J. & Yang, S. 2012b. Estimation of regional evapotranspiration based on remote sensing: case study in the Heihe River Basin. *Journal* of Applied Remote Sensing 6, doi:10.1117/1.jrs.6.061701.
- You, L., Wood, S. & Wood-Sichra, U. 2009. Generating plausible crop distribution maps for Sub-Saharan Africa using a spatially disaggregated data fusion and optimization approach. *Agric. Syst.* 99, 126-140, doi:10.1016/j.agsy.2008.11.003.
- Zwart, S. J. & Bastiaanssen, W. G. M. 2007. SEBAL for detecting spatial variation of water productivity and scope for improvement in eight irrigated wheat systems. *Agric Water Manag* 89, 287-296, doi:10.1016/j.agwat.2007.02.002.
- Zwart, S. J., Bastiaanssen, W. G. M., de Fraiture, C. & Molden, D. J. 2010. WATPRO: A remote sensing based model for mapping water productivity of wheat. *Agric Water Manag* 97, 1628-1636, doi:10.1016/j.agwat.2010.05.017.

FAO TECHNICAL PAPERS

FAO WATER REPORTS

1	Prevention of water pollution by agriculture and related activities, 1993 (E/S)			
2	Irrigation water delivery models 1994 (F)			
3	Water harvesting for improved			
	agricultural production, 1994 (F)			
4	Use of remote sensing techniques			
	in irrigation and drainage 1995 (F)			
5	Irrigation management transfer 1995 (E)			
6	Aethodology for water policy review			
0	and reform 1995 (F)			
7	Irrigation in Africa in figures/l'irrigation			
,	en Afrique en chiffres 1995 (F/F)			
8	Irrigation scheduling: from theory			
0	to practice 1996 (E)			
9	Irrigation in the Near Fast Region			
5	in figures 1997 (F)			
10	Quality control of wastewater for			
10	irrigated crop production 1997 (F)			
11	Seawater intrusion in coastal aquifers –			
	Guide lines for study monitoring			
	and control 1997 (F)			
12	Modernization of irrigation schemes: past			
	experiences and future options 1997 (F)			
13	Management of agricultural			
15	drainage water quality 1997 (F)			
14	Irrigation technology transfer in support			
••	of food security, 1997 (E)			
15	Irrigation in the countries of the former			
	Soviet Union in figures, 1997 (E) (also			
	published as RAP Publication 1997/22)			
16	Télédétection et ressources en eau/Remote			
	sensing and water resources, 1997 (F/E)			
17	Institutional and technical options in			
	the development and management			
	of small-scale irrigation, 1998 (E)			
18	Irrigation in Asia in figures, 1999 (E)			
19	Modern water control and management			
	practices in irrigation – Impact			
	on performance, 1999 (E)			
20	El riego en América Latina y el Caribe			
	en cifras/Irrigation in Latin America and			
	the Caribbean in figures, 2000 (S/E)			
21	Water quality management and control			
	of water pollution, 2000 (E)			
22	Deficit irrigation practices, 2002 (E)			
22	Deficit irrigation practices, 2002 (E)			

 22 Dence impactors practices, 2002 (E)
 23 Review of world water resources by country, 2003 (E)

Availability: September 2014

Ar	-	Arabic	Multil –	Multilingual
С	_	Chinese	*	Out of print
E	-	English	**	In preparation

- F French
- P Portuguese
- S Spanish

The FAO Technical Papers are available through the authorized FAO Sales Agents or directly from Sales and Marketing Group, FAO, Viale delle Terme di Caracalla, 00153 Rome, Italy.

- 24 Rethinking the approach to groundwater and food security, 2003 (E)
- 25 Groundwater management: the search for practical approaches, 2003 (E)
- 26 Capacity development in irrigation and drainage. Issues, challenges and the way ahead, 2004 (E)
- 27 Economic valuation of water resources: from the sectoral to a functional perspective of natural resources management, 2004 (E)
- Water charging in irrigated agriculture An analysis of international experience, 2004 (E) efforts and results, 2007 (E)
- 29 Irrigation in Africa in figures AQUASTAT survey – 2005, 2005 (E/F)
- 30 Stakeholder-oriented valuation to support water resources management processes – Confronting concepts with local practice, 2006 (E)
- 31 Demand for products of irrigated agriculture in sub-Saharan Africa, 2006 (E)
- 32 Irrigation management transfer – Worldwide, 2008 (E/S)
- 33 Scoping agriculture–wetland interactions – Towards a sustainable multiple-response strategy, 2008 (E)
- 34 Irrigation in the Middle East region in figures – AQUASTAT Survey – 2008, 2009 (Ar/E)
- 35 The Wealth of Waste: The economics of wastewater use in agriculture, 2010 (E)
- 36 Climate change, water and food security (E)
- Irrigation in Southern and Eastern Asia in figures – AQUASTAT Survey – 2011 (E)
- 38 Coping with water scarcity An action framework for agriculture and food security (E/F)
- 39 Irrigation in Central Asia in figures (E)
- 40 Guidelines to control water pollution from agriculture in China Decoupling water pollution from agricultural production (E)
- 41 Yield gap analysis of field crops: Methods and case studies (E)

Yield gap analysis of field crops

Methods and case studies

To feed a world population that will exceed 9 billion by 2050 requires an estimated 60% increase over current primary agricultural productivity. Closing the common and often large gap between actual and attainable crop yield is critical to achieve this goal.

To close yield gaps in both small and large scale cropping systems worldwide we need (1) definitions and techniques to measure and model yield at different levels (actual, attainable, potential) and different scales in space (field, farm, region, global) and time (short and long term); (2) identification of the causes of gaps between yield levels; (3) management options to reduce the gaps where feasible and (4) policies to favour adoption of sustainable gap-closing solutions.

The aim of this publication is to critically review the methods for yield gap analysis, hence addressing primarily the first of these four requirements, reporting a wide-ranging and well-referenced analysis of literature on current methods to assess productivity of crops and cropping systems.

This work builds on the activities of FAO and the Dougherty Water for Food Institute (DWFI) to develop tools and knowledge delivery systems to inform and guide policymakers in managing water and agriculture. Two major initiatives are at the foundation of this publication: the Global Yield Gap Atlas (led by DWFI) and the Regional Initiative on Water Scarcity for Near East and North Africa (led by FAO).

